
 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 

601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 
 

Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor                        City Attorney 
Felicia M. Harris, Mayor Pro Tem                      Brian D. Corry 
John A. Cason III, Commissioner                      
Julie T. Martin, Commissioner                                                                                                                              City Manager 
Vincent T. Williams, Commissioner                Regina M. McDuffie 
                                                         
       

 
 

AGENDA 
*** 

BRUNSWICK CITY WORK SESSION 
WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 1, 2021 AT 5:00 P.M. 

HYBRID MEETING 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE VIA ZOOM 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESSES: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

or 
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/93114642040 

 
CALL TO ORDER  
 
PRESENTATION 
1. Georgia Department of Natural Resources - Environmental Protection Division Beth Stevenson, Coast  
    District Manager and Brett Berry Program Manager to Update on the Local Air Quality Complaint      
    Investigation and DeAnna Oser, Program Manager for the Ambient Air Monitoring Program with the  
    GA-DNR Environmental Protection Division – Air Protection Branch, will share update regarding the  
    2021 Ambient Air Monitoring Plan.  (Encl. 1) 
 

 
AGENDA 

*** 
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 1, 2021 AT 6:00 P.M. 
HYBRID MEETING 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE VIA ZOOM 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESSES: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/93114642040


Page 2 
December 1, 2021 
City Commission Agenda 
 

 
 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 
or 

https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/93114642040 
 

CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
PRESENTATION 
1. Proclamation Presentation to Shaw McVeigh for his Service to the City of Brunswick as a Non-Public  
    Member of Coastal Regional Commission.  (Encl. 2) 
PUBLIC HEARING(S) – LAND USE 
2. Consider Approval of Conditional Use Petition No. 2021-04; from Treyvon Hawkins, Petitioning for a  
    Conditional Use for 3329 Norwich Street; location will be used for motor vehicle repairs with no outdoor 
    storage of junk vehicles.  (J. Hunter) (Encl. 3) 
UPDATE 
3.  Redistricting Task Force.   (R. McDuffie) (Encl. 4) 
ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED FOR APPROVAL 
4.  Consider Approval of November 17, 2021 Work Session and Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.         
     (subject to any necessary changes.) (N. Atkinson) (Encl. 5) 
5.  Consider Approval of Financial Reports as of October 31, 2021.  (K. Mills) (Encl. 6) 
6.  Consider Approval of City of Brunswick Tax Allocated District Application, Policy & Procedures, and  
     Resolution.  (T. Stegall) (Encl. 7) 
7.  Consider Approval of Eighteen (18) Alcohol License Renewals.  (R. Monday) (Encl. 8) 
8.  Consider Approval of Memorandum of Understanding with Department of Natural Resources Wildlife  
     Resources Division.  (R. McDuffie) (Encl. 9) 
9.  Consider Approval of Resolution 2021-18 ~ Between Department of Natural Resources and The City of  
     Brunswick for Grant Land & Water Conservation Fund Grant for Orange Park Improvements and to  
     Authorize the Mayor to execute the grant contract.  (R. McDuffie/M. Hill) (Encl. 10) 
10.Consider Approval of Enterprise Zone Incentives in the Central Business District Enterprise Zone for  
     201 Gloucester Street.  (M. Hill) (Encl. 11) 
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
11.Discussion ~ Proposed Short Term Rental Ordinance.  (Encl. 12) 
EXECUTIVE SESSION  

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/93114642040


 

 

Subject: Air quality investigation and monitoring update from Department of 
Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division Air Protection Branch. 

Brief summary of what you will address the Commission on: 

Staff of the Georgia Department of Natural Resources (GA-DNR) Environmental 

Protection Division, Beth Stevenson, Coast District Manager and Brett Berry 

Program Manager, will provide an update on the local air quality complaint 

investigations. In addition, DeAnna Oser, Program Manager for the Ambient Air 

Monitoring Program with the GA-DNR Environmental Protection Division – Air 

Protection Branch, will share update regarding the 2021 Ambient Air Monitoring 

Plan and their plans to conduct a short-term two-month study this winter to 

evaluate the Sulfur Dioxide (SO2) emissions in the same timeframe as last year’s 

events of concern in the Brunswick area.  

      Rachael Thompson 

      Name 

      P.O. Box 2443, Brunswick, GA 31521  

      Address 

      912-466-0934 

Meeting Date: December 1st, 2021 Phone Number   

 



 

Mayor and City Council of  
 

Brunswick, Georgia 

 

Proclamation 
 

 
WHEREAS, Shaw McVeigh has served on the Coastal Regional 

Commission as a non-public member on behalf of the 
City of Brunswick since September 2010; and 

 
WHEREAS, Shaw has been a part of initiatives to develop, promote, 

and provide comprehensive services that make 
Brunswick a better place to live, work, and play; and  

 
WHEREAS,  Shaw’s committed use of his knowledge, skill, and 

expertise has not gone unnoticed.       
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that I, Cornell L. Harvey, 
as Mayor of the City of Brunswick, along with my fellow 
Commissioners, offer our profound thanks to Shaw McVeigh’s years of 
service and contribution to the Coastal Regional Commission and the 
City of Brunswick. 
 
 

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and 
caused this seal to be affixed.  
 
 
 
Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor 
 
Attest: ___________________________ 
       Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 
 
Date:  December 1, 2021                        





Conditional Use Petition No. 21-03 

(3329 Norwich St) 

Staff Report 

John Hunter 

Director 

Planning, Development, and Codes 

City Commission Public Hearing 

December 1, 2021 



 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 

 

Requested Conditional Use ............................................................................................................. 1 
Existing Conditions ......................................................................................................................... 1 
Existing Zoning ............................................................................................................................... 1 
Proposed Development ................................................................................................................... 2 
Staff Analysis……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………2 

conditional use………………………………………………………………………………….2 
Staff Recommedation………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………2 

 

 

Appendix A – conditional use standards .................................................................................... A-1 
Appendix B – conditional use application .................................................................................. B-1 

Appendix C – correspondence from the public .......................................................................... C-1 
 

 

 



1 

Requested Conditional Use 
Treyvon Hawkins is petitioning for a Conditional Use for 3329 Norwich St.  The location will be used 

for used for motor vehicle repairs with no outdoor storage of junk vehicles. 

Existing Conditions 
The subject parcel is .29 acres ± in size with a building located on the subject parcel with limited 

parking.  The location has been used in the past as used tire shop. 

  

The subject parcel is shown outlined in blue on the following location map.   

 

Location Map 

 

Existing Zoning 
The subject parcel is zoned General Commercial (GC).  Parcels across Hardee Street Ln are zoned R6 

Residential with other adjacent properties zones GC. 



2 

Proposed Development 
The property currently contains building that was formerly and used tire shop but has been vacant for 

several years. The new proposed use would be a vehicle repair station providing tire changes, A/C 

servicing, break servicing, engine repairs, and transmission repair. 

 

 

 

 

Staff Analysis 

Conditional Use 

The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any GC zoning district, subject to 

conditions set forth in section 23-25-4. 

 

(b) Garage for the repair and servicing of motor vehicles, provided that all operations are conducted 

within a fully enclosed building or buildings, and there is no open storage of wrecked vehicles, 

dismantled parts, or supplies visible beyond the premises. 

 

The conditional use process allows the City Commission to place conditions on a parcel to make certain 

that the proposed uses are compatible with surrounding uses.  

 

Staff recommends the following conditions:   

1. There is to be no open storage of wrecked vehicles, dismantled parts, or supplies visible beyond 

the premises. 

2. There is to be no outdoor storage of wrecked vehicles, dismantled parts, or supplies on the 

premise. 

 

Staff notes that the permit authorizing a conditional use will only be valid for that particular conditional 

use and will expire if the conditional use or operations pertaining thereto ceases for more than six 

continuous months for any reason.  If the conditional use expires, the property can still be used for any 

of the permitted uses in the underlying GC (General Commercial) zone district. 

 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends in favor of granting the requested conditional use with the following conditions: 

 

1. There is to be no open storage of wrecked vehicles, dismantled parts, or supplies visible beyond 

the premises. 

2. There is to be no outdoor storage of wrecked vehicles, dismantled parts, or supplies on the 

premise. 

3. A screen or buffer must remain on the west side of the property where it runs along Hardee St Ln 

such that operations are not visible from the lane to minimize the impact on adjacent residential 

properties. 

 

  

 



3 

Planning & Appeals Commission Recommendation 

The PAC held a Public Hearing for this application on November 10, 2021.  Discussion centered upon 
continuing to screen the property from the residential properties across Hardee Street Lane; and the 
green screening the applicant had added to the chain link fencing.  Their were no speakers for or against 
the application.  The PAC recommended approving the Staff Recommended Conditions and adding a 5 
year sunset provision to the Conditional Use.  Therefore, the PAC recommends: 

1. There is to be no open storage of wrecked vehicles, dismantled parts, or supplies visible beyond
the premises.

2. There is to be no outdoor storage of wrecked vehicles, dismantled parts, or supplies on the
premise.

3. A screen or buffer must remain on the west side of the property where it runs along Hardee St Ln
such that operations are not visible from the lane to minimize the impact on adjacent residential
properties.

4. A 5 year sunset on the Conditional Use.



A-1

Appendix A – conditional use standards 

Sec. 23-26-12. - Criteria to consider for applications. 
The planning and appeals commission and the governing body shall consider the following 

standards in considering any rezoning, zoning amendment, or Conditional Use Permit application, giving 
due weight or priority to those factors that are appropriate to the circumstances of each proposal:  

(a) Is the proposed use compatible with the purpose and intent of the comprehensive plan?

(b) Is the proposed use suitable in view of the zoning and development of adjacent and nearby
property?

(c) Will the proposed use adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent or nearby
property?

(d) Are their substantial reasons why the property cannot or should not be used as currently
zoned?

(e) Will the proposed use cause an excessive or burdensome use of public facilities or services,
including but not limited to streets, schools, water or sewer utilities, and police or fire protection?

(f) Is the proposed use supported by new or changing conditions not anticipated by the
comprehensive plan or reflected in the existing zoning on the property or surrounding
properties?

(g) Does the proposed use reflect a reasonable balance between the promotion of the public
health, safety, morality, or general welfare and the right to unrestricted use of property?

(Ord. No. 1055, § 3(Exh. A), 3-21-2018) 

Sec. 23-26-14. - Additional criteria to consider for conditional use permit applications. 
The planning and appeals commission and the governing body shall consider the following 

standards in considering any conditional use permit application, giving due weight or priority to those 
factors that are appropriate to the circumstances of each proposal:  

(a) The type of street providing access to the subject property is adequate to serve the proposed
conditional use permit.

(b) Access into and out of the property adequately provides for traffic and pedestrian safety, the
anticipated volume of traffic flow, and access by emergency vehicles.

(c) Public facilities such as schools, water or sewer utilities, and police or fire protection are
adequate to serve the conditional use permit.

(d) Refuse, service, parking and loading areas on the property are located and screened to protect
other properties in the area from such adverse effects as noise, light, glare or odor.

(e) The hours and manner of operation of the conditional use permit have no adverse effects on
other adjacent or surrounding properties.

(f) The height, size and location of the buildings or other structures proposed on the property are
compatible with the height, size or location of buildings or other structures on neighboring
properties.

(Ord. No. 1055, § 3(Exh. A), 3-21-2018) 



B-1 

Appendix B – conditional use application 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

















D-1 

Appendix C – correspondence from the public 
 

(none) 

 

 









  

OFFICIAL MINUTES  
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION WORK SESSION  

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 17, 2021 AT 5:00 P.M. 
HYBRID MEETING 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE VIA ZOOM 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESSES: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 
or 

https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/94617123256 

 
PRESENT:   Honorable Mayor Cornell Harvey, Mayor Pro-Tem Felicia Harris ~via zoom, 

           Commissioner John Cason III ~via zoom, Commissioner Julie Martin ~via zoom,  
                       and Commissioner Vincent Williams  

 
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Harvey (meeting began at 5:00 p.m.) 
 
PRESENTATION 
1. Ken Bleakly, Founder/Chairman of Bleakly Advisory Group to give Presentation Regarding  
    Tax Allocation District.   
     Following the presentation, questions, and comments, the Commission thanked Mr. Bleakly for  
     the presentation. 
UPDATE 
2. Robert Brown, Sr., Water Resources Engineer & Brunswick Office Manager, Goodwyn, Mills &  
    Cawood, Inc. to Provide Shoreline Task Force Update. 
    Following the presentation, Commission thanked Mr. Brown for the presentation. 
 
 
 
WORK SESSION ADJOURNED – session adjourned at 6:11 p.m. 

 
        /s/Cornell L. Harvey   
        Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor  
         
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson   
            Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/94617123256


2 
 

OFFICIAL MINUTES  
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 17, 2021 AT 6:00 P.M. 
HYBRID MEETING 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE VIA ZOOM 
 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESSES: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

or 
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/94617123256 

 
PRESENT:   Honorable Mayor Cornell Harvey, Mayor Pro-Tem Felicia Harris ~via zoom,  

           Commissioner John Cason III ~via zoom, Commissioner Julie Martin ~via zoom and  
           Commissioner Vincent Williams  

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Harvey - meeting begin at 6:11 p.m. 
INVOCATION:  Commissioner Williams 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – Recited by all in attendance at 1229 Newcastle Street.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING(S) – ANNEXATION 
1. Annexation Ordinance of Property Pursuant to the Petition of Viper Brunswick, LLC. (J. Hunter)  
    Mayor Harvey open the floor for anyone wanting to speak in favor or opposition of the above- 
    referenced annexation ordinance. 
    No one came forth in-person at 1229 Newcastle Street or via zoom to addressed the commission. 

~Public Hearing Closed~ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
2.  Consider Adoption of Ordinance No. 1073 – Annexation. 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to adopt the above-referenced ordinance; seconded by  
     Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED FOR APPROVAL 
3. Consider Approval of November 3, 2021 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any  
     necessary changes.) (N. Atkinson)  
    Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve the above-referenced minutes; seconded by  
    Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
4. Consider Approval of Rezoning Petition No. 21-04, from Viper Brunswick, LLC, Owner,  
     Petitioning to Rezone the Subject Parcel from R9 Single Family (R9) to Office Commercial (OC).   
     (J. Hunter)  
     Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced petition; seconded by  
     Commissioner Williams.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
5.  Consider Approval of City of Brunswick Tax Allocated District Application, Policy &  
     Procedures, and Resolution.  (T. Stegall) 
     The above-referenced item was not considered or discussed. 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga
https://cityofbrunswick-ga-gov.zoom.us/s/94617123256


3 
 

6.  Consider Approval of Fourteen (14) Alcohol License Renewals.  (R. Monday) 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve 13 alcohol license renewals and consider  
     approval of Snappy Food Mart separately due to violation for underage sells; seconded by 
     Commissioner Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
     Alcohol License Renewal with violation: 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to place Snappy Food Mart on six-month probation and  
     a fine of $150.00 for first violation of underage sell of alcohol; seconded by Commissioner Cason  
     Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve the above-referenced renewal alcohol license  
     for Snappy Food Mart along with sanctions referenced above in regard to underage sell of     
     alcohol violation; seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5  
     to 0. 
7.  Consider Approval of the Submittal of a Joint 2017 Community Development Block Grant –  
     Disaster Relief with Glynn County.  (R. McDuffie/M. Hardin)  
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve the above-referenced submittal of Joint 2017  
     Community Development Block Grant – Disaster Relief with Glynn County; seconded by                    
     Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
8.  Consider Approval of Request for Proposal for Waste Collection Services.  (R. McDuffie) 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to accept waste collection services vendor as Republic  
     Services LP and give staff authority to negotiate an agreement with Republic; seconded by 
     Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
9.  Consider Approval of Goodyear Park Fitness Court Grant Proposal.  (R. McDuffie) 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve the above-reference grant proposal; seconded  
     by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
10.Consider Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement by and Between City of Brunswick and  
     Glynn County Regarding Funds Provided by Commissioner Walter Rafolski.  (R. McDuffie) 
     Commissioner Williams made a motion to approve the above-referenced Intergovernmental  
     Agreement, subject to revisions by Glynn County; seconded by Commissioner Martin.  Motion  
     passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
11.Consider Approval to Purchase Fifty Dollar Gift Cards ($50.00) for Full Time Employees and  
    Twenty-Five Dollar Gift Cards ($25.00) for Part Time Employees. 
     Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced purchase; seconded by                                                
     Commissioner Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
EXECUTIVE SESSION  
Commissioner Williams made a motion to adjourn into executive session to discuss personnel and 
litigation; seconded by Commissioner Martin.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
RECONVENE FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Following executive session Mayor Harvey announced no action was taken. 

** 
City Manager McDuffie briefly mentioned some of the accomplishments of the City Commission such as 
helping employees by working towards saving money and providing gift cards, helping citizens through 
waste collections and improvements in parks and squares and helping businesses through licensing and 
annexation.  

** 



4 
 

Commissioner Williams made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Commissioner Martin.  Motion 
passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
MEETING ADJOURNED – meeting adjourned at 8:07 p.m. 

 
        /s/Cornell L. Harvey   
        Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor  
 
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson  
            Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 













SUBJECT: Tax Allocation District Draft Proposal 

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON: 11/17/21work session  12/1/2021 Reb. Sch. Mtg.

PURPOSE: Consider approval of City of Brunswick tax allocated district's application, policy 

& procedures, and resolution. 

HISTORY: 

The original TAD plan was approved by a majority of the voters in a referendum held on 
November 3, 2015. Pursuant to the plan, the City of Brunswick (the "City") is authorized to 
exercise the redevelopment powers as delineated by the Redevelopment Powers Law. 

The purpose of the Redevelopment Powers Law is to improve economic and social conditions 
within substantially underutilized and economically and socially depressed urban areas that 
contribute to or cause unemployment, limit the tax resources of cities and counties while creating 
a greater demand for governmental services. 

It is in the public interest of the City that the Redevelopment Powers Law be exercised to 
improve economic and social conditions of the Brunswick Historic Core Area in order to abate 
or eliminate adverse effects of its current underutilized state. 

Adoption of the Brunswick Historic Core Redevelopment Plan in October 6, 2017 and creation 
of Tax Allocation District Number One-Historic Core (the "Historic Core TAD") was 
necessary to redevelop and revitalize this area through a public/private partnership. 

FACTS AND ISSUES: 

The adoption of the Brunswick Historic Core Redevelopment Plan in 2017 was not certified by 

the State's tax revenue department. This leaves the City of Brunswick without a verified tax 
allocation district plan. In order for the city to continue to incentivize redevelopment through 
various sources at its lowest possible tax rate, the commission needs to approve the TAD plan 

and certify the base tax year by year end ( on or before December 31 sL, 2021 ). 

BUDGET INFORMATION: NIA

OPTIONS: 

1. Approve the proposed resolution, policy & procedures, and application so that the plan
can be submitted to the State for certification.

Page J 1 





City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 1. 

 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 
TAX ALLOCATION DISTRICT # 1:  

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION FOR TAD FUNDING 
 

The following form is provided to assist interested parties in requesting TAD funding assistance from the 
Brunswick City Commission, recognizing that not all requested information may be available or relevant 
to specific projects.  The following should be viewed more as an outline or “checklist” of requested 
information rather than an application form to be filled out exactly as presented in this document.  
Applicants may choose to omit items deemed not applicable.  Applicants may present this information in 
alternative sequence, provide project information using spreadsheets, in a narrative report or PowerPoint 
presentation format.  However, an applicant’s failure to adequately address all applicable sections, 
particularly Parts III and IV below, may result in the City’s request for additional information and delay its 
decision making.  The application form and contents may be subject to periodic change by the TAD 
Advisory Committee.   

PART I: APPLICANT SUMMARY  
Submit a summary introduction and contact information to enable the City to identify/locate the project 
site and summarize the amount or range of TAD funding being requested.  Describe your organizational 
structure and provide a primary point of contact should City staff have questions or request additional 
information concerning the application.  

 

1. Name and Location of Proposed Development Project: 

 

2. Initial estimated amount (or range) of TAD Funding Requested: 

 

3. Applicant Contact Information: 

 a. Address: 

 b. Designated Contact: 

 c. Title: 

Gary Mongeon
This sentence assumes that a  draft will be  provided to the County and School District for review and comment.  If not, then this sentence can be deleted. 



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 2. 

 d. Phone Number: 

 e. E-mail Address: 

 

4. Ownership Entity Name: 

 

5. Legal Form or Ownership: 

 

6. Provide the names, addresses, phone numbers and e-mail addresses for major partners, JV or 
limited partners, or other project participants, if any.  Indicate the ownership interest of each 
development participant listed under this item. 

 

7. Qualifications and Experience. Provide an overview of the Applicant’s qualifications and 
experience to implement the proposed project, including examples of comparable ongoing 
and/or completed projects:  

 

PART II: DEVELOPMENT PROFESSIONAL TEAM 
Provide information for the key members of the project’s technical/consultant team who have been 
identified as of the submission date.  This information, to the extent available, is intended to demonstrate 
the Applicant’s seriousness in terms of assembling technical resources to implement the project if TAD 
funding is approved.  If the Applicant has not yet identified or retained specific firms but intends to do so, 
briefly describe the expected timing and process to be used for making those decisions: 

 

1. PROJECT ARCHITECT  

 a. Company: 

b. Primary Contact Name: 

 c. Address: 

 d. Phone Number: 

 e. E-mail Address:  



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 3. 

 

2.  CIVIL/TRAFFIC ENGINEER  

 a. Company: 

 b. Primary Contact Name: 

 c. Address: 

 d. Phone Number: 

 e. E-mail Address:  

 

3. ATTORNEY 

 a. Company: 

 b. Primary Contact Name: 

 c. Address: 

 d. Phone Number: 

 e. E-mail Address: 

 

4. GENERAL CONTRACTOR 

 a. Company: 

 b. Primary Contact Name: 

 c. Address: 

 d. Phone Number: 

 e. E-mail Address:  

 

5. PROPERTY MANAGER (If Applicable)  

 a. Company: 

 b. Primary Contact Name 

 c. Address 



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 4. 

 d. Phone Number 

 e. E-mail Address  

  

PART III: GENERAL PROJECT INFORMATION 

Please describe the project and its potential economic and fiscal benefits to Brunswick.  The City 
recognizes that portions of this outline are not applicable to all projects and may either be omitted or 
quickly addressed in a summary statement.  If you choose not to follow the order of this outline, please 
ensure that the information requested below is included in your project narrative or provide an 
explanation as to why omitted information is not provided, whether not applicable to the project or not 
yet available.   

In addition to describing the Project and its benefits to the City, the most important purpose of this section 
is to provide enough information to enable the City to estimate and forecast future property tax increment 
generated by the Project which, in turn, will be used to establish a preliminary upper limit of financial 
support the City might provide, consistent with its TAD Policy. Project economics and the “but for” 
justification for the City’s granting of TAD proceeds is addressed later in Section IV of the application. 

Please address the following topics: 

1. General Project description:  

 

2. Existing condition of the development site:  

 

3. Tax parcel ID number(s): 

 

4. Acreage impacted by the project: 

 

5. Existing land use(s): 

 

6. Current full value and assessed (40%) value of the development site:  

 



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 5. 

7. Current annual real property tax bills levied on the parcel(s): 

  

8. Construction Type (New Construction, Rehab, Conversion, etc.): 

 

9. Proposed demolition of existing structures. If applicable, describe the square footage and current 
uses of buildings to be demolished.  Include the number of existing total and occupied housing 
units if applicable: 

 

10. Proposed Land Use Mix.  Describe the proposed size and mix of land uses on the site including the 
number of housing units and/or distribution of development square footage devoted to 
residential, retail, office or other land uses, including parking areas or structures (spaces). 

 

11. Residential Development Detail (if applicable).  Outline the proposed mix of ownership and/or 
rental housing units by housing type, bedroom count and average square footage.  Briefly describe 
planned unit features, finishes and amenities (provide visuals if available), as well as planned 
project amenities (recreational amenities, open space, etc.).  Provide an estimate of the average 
targeted price points (sale price or monthly rent) for each category of housing.  This information 
should be described in sufficient detail to enable the City to calculate a total project square 
footage and end value (if a for sale-project) or gross rent roll (if multi-family apartments) for 
purposes of estimating future property tax assessments on the completed housing:   

 

12. Nonresidential Development Detail (if applicable).  Outline the proposed mix of office, retail or 
other nonresidential square footage.  Briefly describe planned property features, finishes and 
planned project amenities (provide visuals if available), targeted tenant mix, etc.  Provide an 
estimate of the estimated average price points (annual rent/SF of sale price per SF if for-sale 
products) for each category of nonresidential use. This information should be described in 
sufficient detail to enable the City to calculate a total project square footage and end value (for 
purposes of estimating future property tax assessments on the completed nonresidential 
development.: 

 



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 6. 

13. Provide an estimate of the Project’s total full value tax assessment at completion and describe 
how the value was calculated.  (This estimate will be validated or changed by the City using its 
own criteria.): 

 

14. Provide an estimated development schedule, including a best estimate of the Project’s 
construction start date, length of the construction period and expected absorption period (rate 
of sales or lease up period): 

 

15. Describe any expected off-site impacts and project benefits to surrounding properties and the 
TAD as a whole: 

 

16. Estimate permanent job creation/retention impacts associated with the development (if 
applicable): 

 

17. Proposed uses of TAD funding.   Describe how the project would deploy TAD funds if awarded, 
focusing on eligible redevelopment project costs that are consistent with City policies described 
in Attachment A.   Provide an itemized the distribution of those costs to the extent possible at the 
time of the application:   

 

18. Provide any optional supporting documents as appropriate:  

 

 a. Existing conditions photos, 

 

 b. Location and project boundary maps, 

 

c. Conceptual Site Plan (If a conceptual site plan is not available, provide an estimated 
delivery date for a site plan.),  

 

 d. Project rendering and/or conceptual elevation drawings (if available), 



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 7. 

 

e. Other relevant supporting information not specifically requested above, which you 
believe may assist the City in evaluating this application. 

 

PART IV: PROJECT ECONOMICS 
The applicant is expected to provide a financial analysis/pro forma to assist the City in understanding why 
TAD funding assistance is needed to support the economic/financial feasibility of the proposed project.  
The financial analysis submitted as part of the application is also understood to be preliminary and subject 
to change.  While the City has no required format or template, the financial analysis should address the 
following elements: 

 

1. Sources and Uses Statement:  Provide a standard summary of the intended sources and uses of 
project costs and revenues. Funding sources should itemize the amount equity, debt and needed 
TAD proceeds to complete the Project: 

 

2. Construction cost estimates:  Include a line-item estimate of construction hard and soft costs to 
the extent available.  Line item costs should be organized consistently with the proposed uses of 
TAD proceeds described in Section III, to enable verification: 

 

3. Income projections from sales and/or leasing activity:  Provide revenue estimates from sales and 
leasing activity.  If space is to be leased and retained in the applicant’s ownership after 
completion, include stabilized occupancy and lease rate projections.  If space is to be sold, include 
projected absorption rates, unit price appreciation and related assumptions: 

 

4. Cash Flow Statement: Submit a cash flow projection reflecting the period from start-up through 
construction, stabilization, and sell out (if applicable).  If a portion of the property is to be retained 
by the applicant, provide an estimate of the residual value of the retained property:   

 

5. Equity: Describe the amount and source(s) of developer’s equity to be supplied to the 
development:  



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 8. 

 

6. Estimated Financing Terms: Estimate interest rates/costs of debt financing to be used: 

 

7. ROI: Calculate projected returns on investment to be earned by the development, with and 
without the requested TAD contribution:   

 

8. Supporting Market Evidence:  Describe the sources of comparable sales/leases and/or other 
market evidence relied upon as a basis for the proposed prices and absorption rates indicated 
above: 

PART V: SITE CONTROL, ZONING, AND SCHEDULE 
The final section of the application is intended to describe how far along the Applicant is in the 
development process at the time the application is submitted.  The City recognizes that applications for 
TAD funding are likely to be filed long before an Applicant obtains required development permits and 
acquires the property.  While not required with the initial application, these steps are expected to be 
complete by the time a development agreement is executed, and financial assistance is delivered to the 
project.   

 

1. Describe the status of the project in terms of site acquisition/assembly, permitting and the 
expected construction schedule: 

 

2. Indicate the current and requested zoning designation(s) for the project site.  If the site is not 
currently zoned for its intended use(s), describe the timeline for obtaining zoning approvals: 

 

3. Indicate whether required site plan approvals and/or variances have been obtained.  If no, 
describe the timeline for obtaining zoning approvals:   

 

4. Include a projected construction schedule that describes the time frames and estimated 
milestones for acquiring financing, completing plans and specifications, permitting and 
construction.  The construction schedule should identify target dates for the following major 
milestones:  



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 9. 

 a. Obtain Financing Commitments 

 b. Detailed (Final) Site Plan Approval 

 c. Real Estate Closing Date (if applicable) 

 d. Construction Start Date 

 e. Estimated Completion Date 

 f. Target date for first units sold or leased 

 

5. Provide evidence of site control in the form of copies of deed(s), contracts for purchase, land lease 
agreement, etc.   

PART VI: CERTIFICATIONS  
All applications must be a companied by a signed and witnessed statement from the proposer stating the 
following:   

The undersigned (the Applicant) hereby certifies to the best of his/her knowledge and belief that 
the information contained in this application is true, correct, and complete as of the submission 
date. The undersigned further represents that he/she has the authority to bind the Applicant and 
all individuals and entities herein to this warranty of truthfulness of the application. 

The Applicant further acknowledges having read applicable sections of City Policies and 
Procedures governing the processing of requests for TAD assistance.  The Applicant understands 
and agrees to abide by all provisions of applicable Georgia statutes, as well as all program policies, 
rules and guidelines established by the City. 

The Applicant acknowledges that a favorable vote by the City Commission to provide TAD proceeds 
to support this Project is based on preliminary information provided in the Application and may be 
subject to modification as additional information becomes available and terms are negotiated in 
future agreements. 

The Applicant acknowledges that if bonds or other forms of debt instruments are required to be 
issued, a favorable vote to proceed constitutes only an agreement to seek third party investors to 
purchase tax allocation bonds or offer comparable financing to the City, based upon anticipated 
future real property tax increment to be generated to repay debt service. The Applicant will also 
be responsible for satisfying underwriting criteria that may be imposed by these financing sources.  

 



City of Brunswick, GA 
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 10. 

 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE:   

 

Name:   

Title:     Date 

 

Witness Signature:    

 

Name:     Date: 

 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 1. 

 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR TAX ALLOCATION DISTRICT # 1:  
HISTORIC CORE REDEVELOPMENT PLAN  

A. INTRODUCTION 
The City of Brunswick, Georgia (the City) has established a Tax Allocation District known as Brunswick TAD 
#1 – Historic Core.  The City’s first TAD was created in 2017 to encourage commercial revitalization in the 
City’s downtown and historic core, to make selective public improvements that will support reinvestment 
in the City’s established neighborhoods, and to encourage reinvestment in the downtown area, and the 
Highway 17, Norwich Street and Gloucester Street Corridors.   

A map of Brunswick TAD #1, including a list of tax parcels within the TAD, is provided as Attachment C. 
The TAD includes 687 parcels and approximately 481 acres located mainly along the Gloucester Street, 
Norwich Street, Highway 17 corridors, and downtown.  The City Council adopted a resolution establishing 
TAD #1 in October of 2017.    

TAD #1 was created to offer incentives to attract private reinvestment, both directly through financial 
assistance to developers and indirectly by funding targeted public improvements that support 
revitalization.  Authorized uses of tax allocation increments are detailed in the Georgia Redevelopment 
Powers Law (O.C.G.A. 36-44-3) and the Redevelopment Plan, which established the TAD. Among those 
authorized uses are reducing a developer’s cost to replace or upgrade deficient public infrastructure, 
rehabilitating or demolishing existing blighted structures, constructing supportive public amenities, or 
defraying other costs as needed to make redevelopment economically feasible.   

The Brunswick City Commission (the City) retains the responsibility to act as Brunswick’s Redevelopment 
Agency for issuing TAD financing, approving specific uses for tax increments generated within the TAD, 
and negotiating development agreements with private entities to implement projects.  In late 2017, the 
Glynn County School System’s Board of Education (G.C.S.S.) and the Glynn County Commission (the 
County) consented to pledge their respective tax allocation increments to TAD #1.  

As Brunswick’s Redevelopment Agency, the City Commission also has the responsibility to adopt policies 
and application procedures to inform and assist applicants for TAD funding.  Upon approving this 
document by resolution, the City Commission adopts the policies and application procedures outlined 
herein to execute its responsibility as the City of Brunswick’s Redevelopment Agency.   

Parties interested in applying for TAD funding to undertake redevelopment projects within Brunswick’s 
TAD #1 are encouraged to review and understand this document before submitting proposals for 
consideration.  The following sections explain the procedures required to process applications, evaluate 
proposals, and approve commitments of TAD funding to qualifying applicants.  They also describe 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 2. 

information a prospective applicant will be expected to submit to the Redevelopment Agent to be 
considered for TAD funding. 

Although this process is thorough, interested applicants should understand that the City encourages 
qualified parties to invest within TAD #1 and make the application submission and review process as 
seamless as possible.  Projects that are well-conceived and consistent with TAD policy have a high 
probability of being approved.  

B. APPOINTMENT OF REDEVELOPMENT AGENT AND THE TAD ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

As Brunswick’s Redevelopment Agency, the Brunswick City Council has the responsibility to (a) appoint 
and delegate responsibility to a “Redevelopment Agent” to manage the day-to-day administration of the 
TAD; (b) appoint City representatives to the TAD Advisory Committee, and (c) adopt policies and 
application procedures to inform and assist potential applicants when requesting TAD funding.   

The City Commission has delegated administrative/management responsibility for TAD #1 to the 
Department of Economic Development.  The City’s Director of Economic and Community Development 
(the Director), working under the City Manager's direction, is also designated as the City’s 
“Redevelopment Agent” responsible for the administration and monitoring of agreements associated 
with the TAD.  The Director/Redevelopment Agent will serve as the City’s first point of contact with parties 
who may be interested in requesting TAD funds to undertake eligible redevelopment activities.  The 
Director will be responsible for communicating the City’s TAD policies to prospective applicants, reviewing 
the information provided by applicants for completeness, notifying the City Manager of an applicant’s 
interest in seeking TAD funding, and carrying out directives of the City Commission during its review of an 
applicant’s proposal.  The Director will also be responsible for proposing or evaluating any future “public” 
projects within the TAD, such as streetscape, park, or infrastructure improvements, which may be funded 
entirely or in part with TAD proceeds.  Such public projects may not necessarily be associated with a 
specific private sector applicant but may be pursued as necessary to support private investment. 

To assist the Director in the administration of TAD #1, the City is authorizing the formation of a five-
member “TAD Advisory Committee” (the TADAC), consisting of three City appointees (the Director, City 
Manager, City Finance Director), two private sector appointees.  Private sector members of the TADAC 
are appointed for four-year terms as approved by the City Commission.  The purpose of the TADAC is to 
review/monitor the status of the TAD and provide comments to the City Commission related to its 
responsibilities as the Redevelopment Agency for the TAD.  The Director shall also be responsible for 
coordinating the activities of the TADAC, including working with members to schedule meetings, arranging 
for applicants to present information, recording deliberations, and reporting recommendations of the 
Committee to the City Commission. 

The function of the TADAC in the Application Process is to review all proposed/draft development 
agreements or TAD financings negotiated between the City Commission and eligible applicants for TAD 
funding.  The TADAC shall first recommend approving, approving with modifications, or disapproving such 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 3. 

development agreements or TAD financings, before the City Commission may take final action on such 
matters.  The TADAC is responsible for organizing itself internally to perform these functions and will be 
free to exercise reasonable discretion when reviewing applications and making recommendations to the 
City Commission. 

C. APPLICATION PROCESS 
The following section outlines the procedure established to (1) encourage private sector redevelopment 
projects within the City’s TAD, (2) invite requests for TAD funding assistance, (3) advise interested 
applicants concerning the procedures for submitting those proposals, and (4) involve the TAD Advisory 
Committee in the application process.  In addition, the City Commission has adopted policy guidelines that 
define the City’s priorities for future expenditures of TAD funds.  These policies are provided with this 
document as Attachment A and should be carefully considered by prospective applicants when requesting 
TAD assistance.  Information requirements to apply for TAD funding are listed in Attachment B. 

1. PRIVATE SECTOR APPLICATIONS 

The application procedure for processing TAD funding requests received from private sector applicants 
shall consist of the following steps: 

(a) Preliminary TAD Funding Request Evaluation--Before making any formal presentation to elected 
officials, a prospective applicant must submit the initial project/financial information for review 
by City staff as required.  The initial staff contact for inquiries is the Director of the City’s 
Department of Economic and Community Development.  The Director is responsible for advising 
prospects concerning the City’s adopted TAD policies and procedures for communicating the 
prospect’s interest to the City Manager and City Commission and coordinating the decision-
making process should a prospect complete and submit a written application for TAD funding. 

(b) Upon receiving an application that the Director’s judgment is sufficiently complete to be 
evaluated, the Director will notify the City Manager that an applicant wishes to present a project 
proposal.  The City Manager will organize a standing or ad-hoc committee consisting of 
appropriate City staff and potentially involving outside resources with helpful technical expertise 
who would be beneficial in vetting the Applicant’s proposal in the opinion of the City Manager.  

This Committee will meet with the Applicant and subject the proposal to a standard internal 
evaluation.  The scope will estimate the upper limit of eligible project assistance and reviewing 
the project’s consistency with City TAD policies and priorities.  The purpose of this task will be to 
(a) provide all interested parties with an initial evaluation and response before requiring them to 
invest additional time, and expense needed to complete the application process and, (b) to ensure 
that proposals for TAD funding submitted to the City Commission are sufficiently “complete” to 
enable the Commission to render informed judgments.  The intent is to advise prospective 
applicants early in the process concerning the realistic range of TAD funding assistance that they 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 4. 

might be eligible to receive based on established City policy, to help screen out proposals that are 
contrary to such policy, and to assist prospects in making applications that have a higher 
probability of being approved by the City Council.   

The City Manager may direct the Committee to report any related findings that it believes will be 
helpful to the City Commission, including recommended terms and conditions as may be 
appropriate.  The Committee’s findings should, at minimum, address the reasonableness of the 
TAD funding request and uses for that funding, suggest terms of performance that should be 
expected from the Applicant, the financial justification for the requested funding amount, and 
evidence that the project will pay back the required TAD investment.  

(c) The Committee may include a recommendation to either approve or deny the application but 
shall not have the authority to prevent an application from being considered by the full City 
Commission.  To the extent possible, the City Manager is expected to enable the Committee to 
complete its evaluation within 30 days of receiving notice from the Director that the Applicant 
has requested TAD funding.  Regardless of staff’s findings or recommendations, neither the City 
Manager, the Director nor this Committee have authority to deny any applicant the opportunity 
to present its request for TAD funding to the City Commission, should that applicant desire to 
make an application. 

(d) If after this staff-level review the Applicant wants to proceed, the Director will advise the 
prospect to amend or complete the required application, which is provided with this document 
as Attachment B.   

(e) TAD Funding Application Review by The TAD Advisory Committee--Upon receipt of a completed 
TAD funding application from the Applicant, the Director will submit the application for review 
by the TADAC  When draft documents are completed and approved for distribution after an 
initial review by the Director, he/she will schedule the date and time for the TAD Advisory 
Committee to meet to consider the Project.  The meeting will be scheduled with no less than 14 
days advance notice to enable adequate time for members of the TADAC to review the 
accompanying materials and obtain input from staff or third-party advisors.  The Applicant will 
be given an opportunity to present the project. The City will present the proposed funding 
recommendation to the TADAC.  The TADAC will be tasked to make recommendations to the City 
for approval, disapproval, or modification of the accompanying agreements.  The Director will 
prepare minutes of TADAC meetings and be responsible for accurately recording the 
Committee’s deliberations, actions, and recommendations, in a written report for delivery to the 
City Commission.  It is expected that the TADAC will complete its review and record its 
recommendations at the end of this meeting.  Action to delay or schedule additional meeting(s) 
to review the Project will require majority approval of TADAC members present and voting.  
Should most of the TADAC request more time, the Director will schedule an additional meeting(s) 
of the TADAC as needed for the Committee to complete its work.  



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 5. 

(f) When the TADAC’s review is completed, the Director will then forward its recommendations on 
the TAD funding application along with a written record of the TADAC’s findings to the City 
Commission.   

(g) The City Manager will inform the Mayor of the pending TAD funding application, and TADAC 
recommendations, when received, will place consideration of the TAD application on the next 
scheduled meeting of the Brunswick City Commission.  At that time, the Applicant will be invited 
to present the details of the project and TAD funding request.  

(h) Review and Approval of TAD Funding Request by City Commission--The City Commission retains 
all rights as the City’s Redevelopment Agency for the TAD and may choose to schedule other 
meetings with the Applicant, solicit and consider public comment as appropriate or conduct 
additional negotiations with the Applicant before rendering a decision.  Upon receiving the 
Applicant’s initial presentation, the Commission may take one of the following actions:  

i. Table or deny the application,   
 

ii. Instruct the City Manager and Director to obtain additional information from the 
Applicant before taking further action, or  

 
iii. Refer the application to an appropriate committee of the City Commission to perform 

additional due diligence, leading to negotiating the terms of a development agreement. 

(i) Should the Commission request more information or conduct additional due diligence, the 
Applicant may be required to meet a second (or more) time(s).  This due diligence may evaluate: 

i. Additional project details, 

ii. Verification of the Applicant’s experience, qualifications, and financial capacity to 
complete the project, 

iii. Review of proprietary and confidential financial information, 

iv. Economic justification/need for public financing and participation, 

v. Refinement of a specific contribution of TAD proceeds and the method of delivery of 
those proceeds, 

vi. Anticipated project benefits such as the revitalization of surrounding neighborhoods, 
funding of supportive public improvements, removal of slums and blight, or economic 
development/job creation benefits, or 

vii. Potential project issues such as adverse neighborhood impacts, project risk, or other 
concerns.  



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 6. 

(j) Applicants are advised that information provided in their applications, as well as meetings of the 
City Commission and its committees, are subject to the provisions of the Georgia Open Records 
Act.  Meetings will be posted and open to the public.  At their discretion, applicants will be 
entitled to mark certain financial information submitted with their applications as “proprietary 
and confidential.”  Any financial information designated as proprietary and confidential shall be 
treated by the Commission as such and will be protected from public disclosure to the extent 
allowed by State law.  

(k) At such time a majority of City Commission members present believe they have received enough 
information from the Applicant to render a decision; they will vote on the application.  If a 
majority of the City Commission present and voting vote to approve the application, the 
application will be designated as a “Pending Approved Project” contingent upon the Applicant’s 
eventual receipt of required City-issued zoning/site plan approvals, development permits, and 
the negotiation of necessary development agreement(s) with the City.  The City Manager or City 
Attorney will be authorized to negotiate the terms of a development agreement or other formal 
agreements necessary to commit TAD funding to the Project.   

(l) Negotiation of Development Agreement--The Director will proceed to coordinate negotiation 
of the agreement(s) with the Applicant in accordance with the City Commission’s directives.  The 
agreement(s) will lay out the terms and conditions for the receipt of TAD funding, including the 
amount and the delivery method for that funding.  Funds may be delivered “upfront” through 
the issuance of TAD bonds or other forms of financing or over time using a long-term 
reimbursement (“pay-go”) agreement.  

 

The policies and objectives of the City are to encourage private sector redevelopment and work 
constructively with property owners and developers who are interested in making positive investments 
within TAD #1.  The City will make good faith efforts to expedite the above procedures and render 
relatively quick decisions on completed applications for TAD funding.  While recognizing that some 
proposals will be more complex and require more extensive study than others, the Economic and 
Community Development Director will be expected to complete a preliminary review and advise 
interested applicants within two weeks of receiving initial inquiries.  The TAD Advisory Committee is 
expected to complete its review and report to the full City Council within 60 days of receiving an 
application, and it shall be the goal of the City Council to act within 30 days of receiving the TADAC report.  
The TADAC will also meet within 30 days of receiving draft documents for its review. 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 7. 

 

1. PUBLIC SECTOR APPLICATIONS 
The City of Brunswick or its Downtown Development Authority (the D.D.A.) has assembled property within 
TAD #1 (and may assemble additional property in the future) for the intended purpose of eventually 
conveying the real estate for private sector redevelopment.  In addition to unsolicited requests for TAD 
assistance submitted by the private sector, the Brunswick City Commission or its D.D.A. may make 
proposals to use future tax increments from private development on TAD parcels currently publicly 
owned.  The City Commission could also request TAD proceeds to reimburse the City for public 
investments, which may be needed to enhance the value of proposed private development.   

In such cases where the City may be “the Applicant” it will submit project information to the TAD Advisory 
Committee for review in a similar manner than would be required for any private sector applicant.  In such 
cases where TAD proceeds accrue to and are invested by the City, certain financial criteria required of 
developers would no longer be relevant and may be waived.  Therefore, specific contents of a “TAD 
application” submitted by the City will be different than content required of private sector applicants.  
Contents of an Application sponsored by the City may differ on a case-by-case basis and shall be 
determined by the City Commission.   

Apart from this procedure, the City has developed general policy guidelines to define desired project 
qualifications, public objectives, and priorities for investing TAD funds.  These criteria serve as a consistent 
standard for evaluating project proposals within Brunswick’s TAD #1.  These guidelines are provided in 
Attachment A and are an integral part of the procedures outlined above. 

D. APPLICATION/FINANCING FEES 

The City has not established a fee schedule for processing requests for TAD assistance.  However, if TAD 
funds are awarded, the City reserves the right to charge applicants reasonable fees to recover the City’s 
costs of securing tax increment financing.  Successful applicants are expected to enter into a development 
agreement with the City as a condition of the financing award.  Application/financing fees will be 
negotiated with the Applicant as part of that development agreement. They will depend upon such factors 
as the total amount of TAD funding provided by the City’s cost of obtaining the financing and general 
financial market conditions at the time of the application. 

 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 8. 

 

Adopted this ____ day of _____, 2021. 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 

 

 ___________________________________ 

By: Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor 

 

Attest: ____________________________________ 

Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 

[SEAL] 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 9. 

ATTACHMENT  A: 

CITY POLICY GUIDELINES FOR THE EVALUATING REQUESTS FOR TAX ALLOCATION DISTRICT (TAD) FINANCING 

(ADOPTED ______, 2021) 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The Brunswick City Commission welcomes development proposals from the private sector that serve to 
revitalize redevelopment areas within the City.  It is the City’s policy to evaluate all unsolicited private 
sector requests for TAD financing and to recommend public sector support of those requests which are 
(a) economically justified; (b) well-conceived and capable of being implemented with reasonable levels of 
public support, and (c) serve to advance the City’s overall redevelopment goals and objectives.   

The purpose of the following policy is to guide appropriate City Staff and other officials when evaluating 
applications for TAD funding, based on the following general factors: 

1. The purposes/uses for TAD financing and the consistency of those purposes with the 
Redevelopment Powers Law, City objectives outlined in the TAD Redevelopment Plan and related 
City Plans and policy documents, 

2. The overall amount and timing of tax increments to be generated by the project, 

3. The Applicant’s demonstrated financial need for TAD Assistance based on standard evaluation 
criteria (i.e., the “but for” test), and 

4. Resulting project benefits and return on the public’s investment. 

 

The Brunswick City Commission may also propose using future TAD proceeds from private development 
on parcels that are currently publicly owned.  The City Council may request TAD proceeds to reimburse 
the City for investments made to prepare or make additional public improvements needed to enhance 
the taxable value of proposed private projects.  In such cases where the City of Brunswick may be the 
Applicant, the City will present its proposal for review by the TAD Advisory Committee, in a similar process 
to that which would be conducted for any private sector applicant.  Developers seeking to acquire or 
develop property from the City or its Downtown Development Authority may be required to provide 
project details or financial information as necessary to assist the City in making application to the TAD 
Advisory Committee.  

Policy guidelines are described in more detail below: 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 10. 

1. PURPOSES/USES OF TAD FINANCING   

The City will only consider applications for TAD financing for purposes/uses that are consistent with the 
definition of “redevelopment” as defined in Georgia Redevelopment Powers Law (O.C.G.A 36-44-3(5)).  
These eligible purposes/uses include:  

 New building construction, including commercial buildings and housing construction,  

 Building renovations,  

 Environmental remediation and/or demolition of existing structures, 

 Construction of parking structures, 

 Public works and utilities,  

 Telecommunications infrastructure,  

 Restoration of historic sites and buildings,  

 Parks, open space or civic amenities,  

 Transportation, roadway improvements or transit facilities; and 

 Pedestrian amenities and safety improvements.  

 Land acquisition for redevelopment 

2. TAX INCREMENT GENERATED BY THE PROJECT 

It is the City’s policy that any private sector project which receives a TAD contribution should attempt to 
be “self-financing” to the extent possible.  In the context of a TAD contribution, self-financing means that 
the project generates enough future property tax increments and other associated revenues to pay back 
debt service obligations incurred from issuing a TAD bond or other debt financing for that project.  
Although the City may consider proposals that are not self-financing by this definition, such proposals 
must offer other extraordinary benefits to justify larger contributions.  Self-financing limitations would 
not necessarily apply to projects receiving “pay-go” reimbursements from future TAD special fund 
proceeds. 

It is also the City’s policy to favor projects which generate sufficient increment to meet debt coverage 
ratios that are imposed by lenders or, more importantly, generate “excess” revenues that can be used to 
retire debt ahead of schedule, return proceeds to the general fund, or be invested for other worthwhile 
purposes within the TAD.  In addition, it is the City’s general policy to limit the maximum eligible funding 
to any project, from either the TAD Special Fund or from the proceeds of TAD bonds or other financing to 
15% of the total project cost.  It is also the City’s policy to limit the maximum term of any single approved 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 11. 

TAD bond, pay-go agreement, or another form of financing to 25 years.  Applicants should consider this 
limitation in their initial project planning and avoid pursuing alternatives that require higher contributions 
of public finding to be financially feasible.  

Finally, it is the City’s policy to favor projects that propose to use TAD funds to finance supportive 
improvements to surrounding public infrastructure and amenities over those that simply use TAD 
proceeds to defray construction costs or improve financial returns to the developer.  The City will also 
favorably consider projects that return substantial long-term incremental property tax revenues after all 
TAD financing has been retired.   

In addition to the overall amount of tax increment generated in proportion to cost, the City will consider 
the overall market/financial feasibility and perceived level of risk associated with the proposed 
development plan and the demonstrated qualifications and experience of the Applicant to execute the 
project as proposed.  For projects that are complex or have a high level of development risk, the City may 
request supporting documentation in the form of feasibility studies or appraisals to support the 
application.  

3. PROJECT ECONOMICS  

Applicants for TAD financing assistance must demonstrate financial need for such assistance based on 
reasonable pro forma projections of costs, revenues, and expected profits, i.e., meet the “but for” test 
established in the Redevelopment Powers Law.  Potential legitimate needs for TAD contributions to 
overcome poor development economics may include but not be limited to:  

 High site acquisition, demolition, or remediation costs due to the nature of the proposed 
redevelopment site,  

 Inadequate public infrastructure that must be rebuilt or enhanced at the developer’s expense to 
support the proposed use,  

 The inclusion of project amenities/enhancements that offer a public benefit but cannot be 
supported by the project’s economics,  

 The additional marketing risks associated with being first to invest in an economically challenged 
area, 

 The need to incur above-average construction costs to successfully market units, or to satisfy the 
City’s desire to encourage high quality construction on redevelopment sites. 

Before approving TAD financing requests, the City will require applicants to submit a sufficiently detailed 
financial pro forma to enable staff or the City’s consultants to evaluate the project’s overall development 
economics and anticipated profit margins, using reasonable and defensible assumptions.    



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 12. 

It is the City’s general policy that the maximum TAD financing contribution it will provide directly to 
underwrite development costs should enable an applicant to achieve a “reasonable” internal rate of 
return (IRR) or return on investment (R.O.I.) based on total project costs and conservative projections of 
sales performance.  The definition of a “reasonable return” will be determined by the City Commission as 
the Redevelopment Agency, after considering input from City staff and financial advisors, the specific 
attributes of the project, and after applying generally accepted appraisal methods.  If, in the City’s opinion, 
the project has the potential to exceed pro forma expectations and achieve rates of return well in excess 
of normal expectations, the City may, at its discretion, approve a lower TAD contribution or recommend 
provisions to recapture a percentage of contributed TAD funds in the future, if actual project performance 
exceeds pro forma projections.   

This policy would not directly apply when TAD investments are requested for public infrastructure 
improvements which may enhance a project’s market feasibility but would not directly impact the 
developer’s financial pro forma.  In such cases, the City will weigh the long-term value and public purpose 
of the requested infrastructure investment when considering an appropriate contribution of TAD funding.  

4. PROJECT BENEFITS AND RETURN ON PUBLIC INVESTMENT 

In addition to purposes/uses that are consistent with the Redevelopment Powers Law, the City will give 
added consideration and support to investments of TAD funds that help to achieve redevelopment goals 
and objectives contained in the Redevelopment Plan for TAD #1, are consistent with City policy, and 
implement projects identified in previous studies of the area. These goals/objectives include but are not 
necessarily limited to: 

 Attracting private investment to help finance key commercial, retail, hospitality, residential 
developments, and public spaces in locations that are critical to the future growth of the City’s 
historic core economy and quality of life and will act as catalysts for additional private commercial 
and residential investment,  

 Redeveloping or demolishing vacant or under-utilized structures that are no longer economically 
viable and, by either their demolition or adaptive re-use, would enhance the redevelopment 
potential of surrounding properties,  

 Supporting public investment in parks, trails, open space, or other public amenities identified in 
previous studies, 

 Encouraging the rehabilitation of historic properties in a manner that will contribute to the 
character of the historic core of Brunswick, 

 Increasing the number and purchasing power of households living in the redevelopment area to 
support the viability of local businesses,  



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 13. 

 Enabling commercial or office development that would create a significant number of jobs or 
encourage the revitalization of areas that until now have been passed over for any significant 
redevelopment,  

 Reducing vacancy, improving, and expanding investment in downtown and the key corridors with 
thriving commercial and mixed-use development, 

 Increasing the future tax digest of the City, County, and School District, allowing the City to offer 
more services that will improve the quality of life for all residents,  

 Managing and reducing long-term service cost impacts/burdens on the City, County, and School 
District. 

5. POSITIVE LOCAL/REGIONAL ECONOMIC IMPACT 

The City emphasizes the importance of supporting TAD investments that advance the overall economy, 
reinforce the City’s economy and produce significant job creation or other benefits for the community 
and region.  The City recognizes that in some individual cases, project proposals may return exceptional 
public benefits that merit investments of TAD funds at a higher level than is indicated by the evaluation 
criteria outlined in this policy.  The City may approve a larger public fund investment in such extraordinary 
cases than would otherwise be justified.  For projects that offer exceptional employment growth or 
positive local/regional economic impacts, the City Commission, in its capacity as the Redevelopment 
Agency, may also consider leveraging other available economic development incentives, in addition to 
TAD financing. 

 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 14. 

ATTACHMENT B:  

TAD APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 

The following outline is provided to assist interested parties in requesting TAD funding assistance from 
the Brunswick City Commission, recognizing that not all requested information may be available or 
relevant to specific projects.  The following should be viewed more as an outline or “checklist” of 
requested information rather than an application form to be filled out exactly as presented in this 
document.  Applicants may choose to omit items deemed not applicable.  Applicants may present this 
information in an alternative sequence, provide project information using spreadsheets, in a narrative 
report or PowerPoint presentation format.  However, an applicant’s failure to adequately address all 
applicable sections, particularly Parts III and IV below, may result in the City’s request for additional 
information and delay its decision making.  The application form and contents may be subject to periodic 
change by the TAD Advisory Committee.   

PART I: APPLICANT SUMMARY  

Submit a summary introduction and contact information to enable the City to identify/locate the project 
site and summarize the amount or range of TAD funding being requested.  Describe your organizational 
structure and provide a primary point of contact should City staff have questions or request additional 
information concerning the application.  

 

1. Name and Location of Proposed Development Project 

 

2. Initial estimated amount (or range) of TAD Funding Requested 

 

3. Applicant Contact Information 

 a. Address: 

 b. Designated Contact: 

 c. Title: 

 d. Phone Number: 

 e. E-mail Address 

 

Gary Mongeon
This sentence assumes that a  draft will be  provided to the County and School District for review and comment.  If not, then this sentence can be deleted. 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 15. 

4. Ownership Entity Name 

 

5. Legal Form or Ownership 

 

6. Provide the names, addresses, phone numbers, and e-mail addresses for major partners, J.V. or 
limited partners, or other project participants, if any.  Indicate the ownership interest of each 
development participant listed under this item. 

 

7. Qualifications and Experience. Provide an introductory overview of the Applicant’s qualifications 
and experience to implement the proposed project, including examples of comparable ongoing 
or completed projects.  

 

PART II: DEVELOPMENT PROFESSIONAL TEAM 
Provide information for the key members of the project’s technical/consultant team who have been 
identified as of the submission date.  The City recognizes that an Applicant may not be able to invest 
significant resources in a project that does not appear to be financially feasible “but for” a favorable 
decision by the City to provide financial assistance. The number of consulting disciplines involved will also 
depend on the size and nature of the project.  This information, to the extent available, is intended to 
demonstrate the Applicant’s seriousness in terms of assembling technical resources to implement the 
project if TAD funding is approved.  If the Applicant has not yet identified or retained specific firms but 
intends to do so, briefly describe the expected timing and process to be used for making those decisions: 

 

1. PROJECT ARCHITECT  

 a. Company 

 b. Primary Contact Name 

 c. Address 

 d. Phone Number 

 e. E-mail Address  

 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 16. 

2.  CIVIL/TRAFFIC ENGINEER  

 a. Company 

 b. Primary Contact Name 

 c. Address 

 d. Phone Number 

 e. E-mail Address  

 

3. ATTORNEY 

 a. Company 

 b. Primary Contact Name 

 c. Address 

 d. Phone Number 

 e. E-mail Address 

 

4. GENERAL CONTRACTOR 

 a. Company 

 b. Primary Contact Name 

 c. Address 

 d. Phone Number 

 e. E-mail Address  

 

5. PROPERTY MANAGER (If Applicable)  

 a. Company 

 b. Primary Contact Name 

 c. Address 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 17. 

 d. Phone Number 

 e. E-mail Address  

  

PART III: GENERAL PROJECT INFORMATION 
Use the following suggested outline to describe the project and its potential economic and fiscal benefits 
to Brunswick.  The City recognizes that portions of this outline do not apply to all projects and may either 
be omitted or quickly addressed in a summary statement.  If you choose not to follow the order of this 
outline, please ensure that the information requested below is included in your project narrative or 
explain why omitted information is not provided, whether not applicable to the project or not yet 
available.   

The City understands that in some cases, it may be unrealistic to expect an applicant to invest in detailed 
studies prior to receiving a preliminary indication from the City that it is willing to invest TAD funds to 
support the Project.  It is acceptable to offer the best estimates or reasonable assumptions based on 
relevant experience in such cases.  The City also expects that project site plans, finishes, amenities, 
construction costs, and revenue estimates will evolve as proposals move through the City’s planning and 
permitting process.  Information provided with this application is therefore understood to be preliminary 
and subject to change.   

In addition to describing the Project and its benefits to the City, the most important purpose of this section 
is to provide enough information to enable the City to estimate and forecast future property tax increment 
generated by the Project, which, in turn, will be used to establish a preliminary upper limit of financial 
support the City might provide, consistent with its TAD Policy. Project economics and the “but for” 
justification for the City’s granting of TAD proceeds are addressed later in Section IV of the application. 

Contents of this section should address the following topics: 

1. General Project description  

 

2. Existing condition of the development site  

 

3. Tax parcel ID number(s) 

 

4. Acreage impacted by the project 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 18. 

 

5. Existing land use(s) 

 

6. Current full value and assessed (40%) value of the development site  

 

7. Current annual real property tax bills levied on the parcel(s) 

  

8. Construction Type (New Construction, Rehab, Conversion, etc.) 

 

9. Proposed demolition of existing structures. If applicable, describe the square footage and current 
uses of buildings to be demolished.  Include the number of existing total and occupied housing 
units if applicable. 

 

10. Proposed Land Use Mix.  Describe the proposed size and mix of land uses on the site, including 
the number of housing units or distribution of development square footage devoted to 
residential, retail, office, or other land uses, including parking areas or structures (spaces). 

 

11. Residential Development Detail (if applicable).  Outline the proposed mix of ownership or rental 
housing units by housing type, bedroom count, and average square footage.  Briefly describe 
planned unit features, finishes, and amenities (provide visuals if available) and planned project 
amenities (recreational amenities, open space, etc.).  Provide an estimate of the average targeted 
price points (sale price or monthly rent) for each housing category.  This information should be 
described in sufficient detail to enable the City to calculate a total project square footage and end 
value (if a for sale-project) or gross rent roll (if multifamily apartments) for purposes of estimating 
future property tax assessments on the completed housing.   

 

12. Nonresidential Development Detail (if applicable).  Outline the proposed mix of office, retail, or 
other nonresidential square footage.  Briefly describe planned property features, finishes, and 
planned project amenities (provide visuals if available), targeted tenant mix, etc.  Provide an 
estimate of the estimated average price points (annual rent/S.F. of the sale price per S.F. if for-



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 19. 

sale products) for each category of nonresidential use. This information should be described in 
sufficient detail to enable the City to calculate a total project square footage and end value (for 
purposes of estimating future property tax assessments on the completed nonresidential 
development. 

 

13. Provide an estimate of the Project’s total full value tax assessment at completion and describe 
how the value was calculated.  (This estimate will be validated or changed by the City using its 
own criteria.) 

 

14. Provide an estimated development schedule, including a best estimate of the Project’s 
construction start date, length of the construction period, and expected absorption period (rate 
of sales or lease-up period). 

 

15. Describe any expected off-site impacts and project benefits to surrounding properties and the 
TAD as a whole. 

 

16. Estimate permanent job creation/retention impacts associated with the development (if 
applicable). 

 

17. Proposed uses of TAD funding.  Describe how the project would deploy TAD funds if awarded, 
focusing on eligible redevelopment project costs consistent with City policies described in 
Attachment A.  Provide an itemized distribution of those costs to the extent possible at the time 
of the application.   

 

18. Provide any optional supporting documents as appropriate:  

 

 a. Existing conditions photos, 

 

 b. Location and project boundary maps, 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 20. 

 

c. Conceptual Site Plan (If a conceptual site plan is not available, provide an estimated 
delivery date for a site plan.),  

 

 d. Project rendering or conceptual elevation drawings (if available), 

 

e. Other relevant supporting information not specifically requested above, which you 
believe may assist the City in evaluating this application. 

 

PART IV: PROJECT ECONOMICS 

The Applicant is expected to provide a financial analysis/pro forma to assist the City in understanding why 
TAD funding assistance is needed to support the economic/financial feasibility of the proposed project.  
The City recognizes that not all information required to complete a development proforma will be 
available when an Applicant files an initial funding request.  In such cases, it is acceptable to offer the best 
estimates or reasonable assumptions based on relevant local data and experience.  The financial analysis 
submitted as part of the application is also understood to be preliminary and subject to change.  While 
the City has no required format or template, the financial analysis should address the following elements: 

 

1. Sources and Uses Statement:  Provide a standard summary of the intended sources and uses of 
project costs and revenues. Funding sources should itemize the amount of equity, debt, and 
needed TAD proceeds to complete the Project. 

 

 

2. Construction cost estimates:  Include a line-item estimate of construction hard and soft costs to 
the extent available.  Line item costs should be organized consistently with the proposed uses of 
TAD proceeds described in Section III to enable verification. 

 

3. Income projections from sales or leasing activity:  Provide revenue estimates from sales and 
leasing activity.  If space is to be leased and retained in the Applicant’s ownership after 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 21. 

completion, include stabilized occupancy and lease rate projections.  If space is to be sold, include 
projected absorption rates, unit price appreciation, and related assumptions. 

 

4. Cash Flow Statement: Submit a cash flow projection reflecting the period from start-up through 
construction, stabilization, and sell-out (if applicable).  If a portion of the property will be retained 
by the Applicant, provide an estimate of the residual value of the retained property.   

 

5. Equity: Describe the amount and source(s) of the developer’s equity to be supplied to the 
development.  

 

6. Estimated Financing Terms: Estimate interest rates/costs of debt financing to be used. 

 

7. R.O.I.: Calculate projected returns on investment to be earned by the development, with and 
without the requested TAD contribution.   

 

8. Supporting Market Evidence:  Describe the sources of comparable sales/leases or other market 
evidence relied upon as a basis for the proposed prices and absorption rates indicated above. 

PART V: SITE CONTROL, ZONING, AND SCHEDULE 
The final section of the application is intended to describe how far along the Applicant is in the 
development process at the time the application is submitted.  The City recognizes that applications for 
TAD funding are likely to be filed long before an Applicant obtains required development permits and 
acquires the property.  While not required with the initial application, these steps are expected to be 
complete by the time a development agreement is executed and financial assistance is delivered to the 
project.   

 

1. Describe the status of the project in terms of site acquisition/assembly, permitting, and the 
expected construction schedule. 

 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 22. 

2. Indicate the current and requested zoning designation(s) for the project site.  If the site is not 
currently zoned for its intended use(s), describe the timeline for obtaining zoning approvals. 

 

3. Indicate whether required site plan approvals or variances were obtained.  If no, describe the 
timeline for obtaining zoning approvals.   

 

4. Include a projected construction schedule that describes the time frames and estimated 
milestones for acquiring financing, completing plans and specifications, permitting, and 
construction.  The construction schedule should identify target dates for the following major 
milestones:  

 a. Obtain Financing Commitments 

 b. Detailed (Final) Site Plan Approval 

 c. Real Estate Closing Date (if applicable) 

 d. Construction Start Date 

 e. Estimated Completion Date 

 f. Target date for first units sold or leased 

 

5. Provide evidence of site control in the form of copies of deed(s), contracts for purchase, land lease 
agreement, etc.   

PART VI: CERTIFICATIONS  
All applications must be accompanied by a signed and witnessed statement from the proposer stating the 
following:   

The undersigned (the Applicant) hereby certifies to the best of his/her knowledge and belief that 
the information contained in this application is true, correct, and complete as of the submission 
date. The undersigned further represents that he/she has the authority to bind the Applicant and 
all individuals and entities herein to this warranty of truthfulness of the application. 

The Applicant further acknowledges having read applicable sections of City Policies and 
Procedures governing the processing of requests for TAD assistance.  The Applicant understands 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 23. 

and agrees to abide by all provisions of applicable Georgia statutes and all program policies, rules, 
and guidelines established by the City. 

The Applicant acknowledges that a favorable vote by the City Commission to provide TAD proceeds 
to support this Project is based on preliminary information provided in the Application and may be 
subject to modification as additional information becomes available and terms are negotiated in 
future agreements. 

The Applicant acknowledges that if bonds or other forms of debt instruments are required to be 
issued, a favorable vote to proceed constitutes only an agreement to seek third party investors to 
purchase tax allocation bonds or offer comparable financing to the City, based upon anticipated 
future real property tax increment to be generated to repay debt service. The Applicant will also 
be responsible for satisfying underwriting criteria that may be imposed by these financing sources.  

 

 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE:   

 

Name:   

Title:     Date 

 

Witness Signature:    

 

Name:     Date: 



City of Brunswick, GA  
Tax Allocation District #1    
Policies and Procedures 
 

June 2021 
Page 24. 

ATTACHMENT C:  

TAD BOUNDARIES AND PARCEL LIST  

 



  

CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 
 

A RESOLUTION  
# 2021-____ 

 
 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA AND TAX ALLOCATION 
DISTRICT NUMBER ONE—HISTORIC CORE; 
ESTABLISHING THE TAX ALLOCATION INCREMENT 
BASE FOR THE TAX ALLOCATION DISTRICT; AND FOR 
OTHER PURPOSES. 

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. §36-44-1, et seq., is known and may be cited as the 
Redevelopment Powers Law; and 

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Powers Law (O.C.G.A. §36-44-1, et seq.) provides for 
the exercise of redevelopment powers, the adoption of redevelopment plans, and the creation tax 
allocation districts by counties and municipalities in the State of Georgia; and 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Redevelopment Powers Law is to improve economic and 
social conditions within substantially underutilized and economically and socially depressed 
urban areas that contribute to or cause unemployment, limit the tax resources of counties and 
municipalities while creating a greater demand for governmental services, have a deleterious 
effect upon the public health, safety, morals and welfare, and impair or arrest the sound growth 
of the community; and 

WHEREAS, as approved by a majority of the voters in a referendum held on November 
3, 2015 the City of Brunswick (the “City”) is authorized to exercise the redevelopment powers as 
delineated by the Redevelopment Powers Law; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest of the City that the Redevelopment Powers Law 
be exercised to improve economic and social conditions of the Brunswick Historic Core Area in 
order to abate or eliminate deleterious effects of its current underutilized state; and 

WHEREAS, adoption of the Brunswick Historic Core Redevelopment Plan in October 6, 
2017 and creation of Tax Allocation District Number One—Historic Core (the “Historic Core 
TAD”) was necessary to redevelop and revitalize this area through a public/private partnership,; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City recognizes that new transportation infrastructure and parking 
facilities, water, wastewater and storm water facilities, streets, streetscapes, sidewalks, 
greenspace and parks, retail, dining and commercial spaces are needed to revitalize this area and 
create an vibrant commercial corridors in Brunswick; and  

WHEREAS, the Historic Core TAD can provide incentives and funding to catalyze 
redevelopment of the area; and 



 2 City of Brunswick TAD #1 Amendment   
7/06/21  

WHEREAS, a Redevelopment Plan was prepared for the Brunswick Historic Core 
Redevelopment Area in accordance with O.C.G.A. §36-44-3(9) and adopted by City Council on 
October 6, 2017; and  

WHEREAS, the Council now desires to amend the Brunswick Historic Core 
Redevelopment Plan and the related Tax Allocation District Number One—Historic Core: and  

WHEREAS, the Council has held a public hearing on November 17th 2021 on this 
proposed amendment to the approved Redevelopment Plan and TAD Resolution as required by 
the Redevelopment Powers Law. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MAYOR AND COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City of Brunswick Tax Allocation District Number One—Historic 
Core was created as of October 6, 2017, and shall continue in existence until all redevelopment 
costs, including financing costs and debt service on tax allocation bonds, are paid in full. 

Section 2. The City of Brunswick hereby amends the estimated Tax Allocation 
Increment Base Year to 2021 and its value to _________, to reflect the 2021 real property values 
of the 687 parcels included in the Tax Allocation District Redevelopment Area.   

Section 3. The property proposed to be pledged for payment or as security for 
payment of tax allocation bonds will include the positive ad valorem tax allocation increments 
from ad valorem taxes levied on all taxable real property within the boundaries of Tax Allocation 
District Number One—Historic Core. 

Section 4. All resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict with this resolution are 
hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 



 3 City of Brunswick TAD #1 Amendment   
7/06/21  

 

Adopted and approved by the City Commission of the City of Brunswick, Georgia 
this __ day of  ____, 2021. 

 

 
     Approved: 
 
 
 
 
    BY:_____________________________________ 
     Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 
   
Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 
 



Alcohol Beverage License Renewals  
Name of Business Business 

Owner/Manager   
Business 
Address  

Permit Type  
 

Parkers Causeway   Owner: Patrick Parker 
Manager: Krystal Dyer 

25 Torras Causeway 
Brunswick, GA  

Retail sale of beer & wine. 

Five Points Mini Mart  Owner/Manager: Jinnal 
Patel 

2806 Altama Ave. 
Brunswick, GA  

Retail sale of beer & wine. 

Bunky’s Sunoco Owner: Ramesh Patel 
Manager: Rajendra Patel 

2803 Glynn Ave. 
Brunswick, GA  

Retail sale of beer & wine. 

LOLO Mart 2  Owner: Nisha Patel 
Manager: Pratikshaben 
Patel  

2722 Norwich St. 
Brunswick, GA  

Retail sale of beer & wine. 
 

Cool on Cool  
DBA: The Blue Door   

Owner: Constance 
Lindsey Manager: Enzo 
Centfanti 

1706 A Second St.  
Brunswick GA  

On premises consumption of beer 
& wine.  

Bamboo Lounge  Owner/Manager: Nitesh 
Patel 

2717 Glynn Ave. 
Suite B  
Brunswick, GA  

On premises consumption of 
beer, wine, & distilled spirits.  

Olive Garden   Owner: Corporate Coleen 
Lyons Manager: 
Zachariah Bernot 

600 Glynn Isles  
Brunswick, GA  

On premise consumption of beer, 
wine, and distilled spirits with 
Sunday sales  

Lucky 7   Owner/Manager: Ankur 
Patel 

3021 Altama Ave.  
Brunswick, GA  

Retail sale of beer & wine.  

Pinball Palace  Owner: Robert Daniel 
Manager: Karen Daniel 

3303 Hopkins Ave.  
Brunswick, GA  

On premise consumption of beer 
and wine.  

El Potro Mexican 
Restaurant   

Owner/Manager: Jose 
Martinez 

3460 Cypress Mill 
Rd.  
Brunswick, GA  

On premise consumption of beer, 
wine, and distilled spirits with 
Sunday sales.  

Basil Thai & Sushi 
Bar  

Owner: Suzanne 
Daoheuang 
Manager: Bountieng 
Daoheuang 

1401 Newcastle St. 
Brunswick, GA  

On premises consumption of 
beer, wine, & distilled spirits with 
Sunday sales. 
 

Gallop’s Mart   Owner/Manager: Niriali 
Dalal 

1409 Gloucester St. 
Brunswick, GA  

Retail sale of beer & wine. 

Walmart Market 
#2840  

Owner: Corporate 
Manager: Wanda Wilson 

11 Glynn Plaza 
Brunswick, GA  

Retail sale of beer & wine. 

Tipsy McSway’s  Owner/Manager: Susan 
Bates  

1414 Newcastle St. 
Brunswick, GA  

On premises consumption of 
beer, wine & distilled spirits with 
Sunday sales.  

Russell’s Sports Bar  Owner: James Russell  
Manager: Tanica Russell  

1824 Norwich St.  
Brunswick, GA  

On premises consumption of 
beer, wine & distilled spirits.  

Brunswick Landing  Owner: Corporate 
Deborah Torres  
Manager: Darren Pietch  

2429-A Newcastle 
St.  
Brunswick, GA  

On premises/retail consumption 
of beer, wine, and distilled spirits.  

A-1 Beer & Tobacco  Owner/Manager: Nitesh 
Patel  

2432 Newcastle St. 
Brunswick, GA   

Retail sale of beer & wine.  

Straton Hall  Owner:/Manager: Stacy 
Bass  

1423 Newcastle St.  
Brunswick, GA  

On premises consumption of 
beer, wine, & distilled spirits.  

 

Commission Meeting: December 1st, 2021 



SUBJECT: Memorandum of Agreement with the DNR Wildlife Resources Division 

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON: December 1, 2021 

PURPOSE: To review terms and renew the Memorandum of Agreement with the DNR 
Wildlife Resources Division to grant temporary access to the Andrews Island Causeway for 

the purpose of disposing of Right whale carcasses. 

HISTORY: The current agreement was put in place in 2011 and is set to expire in 
February of 2022. The location has been determined to be the only location along the 

central and southern Georgia coast that is suitable for this purpose. 

FACTS AND ISSUES: Carcasses off the coast of Georgia is rare but can occur. The site 

was not used during the previous term but needs to be available if a need arises. 

BUDGET INFORMATION: There are no cost to the City associated with renewal of this 
agreement. The agreement does stipulate that the City may request reimbursement of 

expenses up to $4,999.00 per year. 

OPTIONS: 

1. Approve the renewal of the memorandum of agreement.

2. Do not approve the renewal of the memorandum of agreement.

3. Take no action at this time.

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Approve the renewal of the memorandum of agreement. 

DEPARTMENT: City Manager 

Prepared by: Regina M. McDuffie 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

No additional comment. 

Page 11 





 
MARK WILLIAMS TED WILL 
COMMISSIONER DIRECTOR 

 

 
1 CONSERVATION WAY | BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 31520 

912.264.7218 | FAX 912.262.3143 | WWW.GEORGIAWILDLIFE.COM 

December 1, 2021 
 
Commission of the City of Brunswick, Georgia 
Brunswick City Hall 
601 Gloucester St. 
Brunswick, GA 31520 
  
Re:  Temporary Access to Andrews Island Causeway for Right Whale Research 
 
Dear Mayor and Commissioners: 
 

The North Atlantic right whale is the official state marine mammal of Georgia and one of 
the most endangered whale species in the world.  Each winter right whales migrate to their 
calving grounds along the Georgia coast.  The Georgia Department of Natural Resources (DNR) 
is tasked with monitoring the whales and protecting their calving habitat.  Documenting causes 
of whale mortality is critical to our monitoring efforts.    
 

Right whale carcasses are found floating offshore of Georgia on rare occasions1.  If left to 
float with the wind and currents, whale carcasses are hazards to marine navigation and can wash 
ashore unexpectedly on public beaches.  A more proactive approach is to tow carcasses to a 
predetermined location so they can be examined, dissected and disposed of properly.  We have 
identified only one location on the southern and central portions of the Georgia coast that is 
suitable for this purpose: the Andrews Island Causeway along the East River in Brunswick (map 
enclosed).  In 2011, the City of Brunswick entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with the 
DNR Wildlife Resources Division, giving us temporary access to the Andrew Island Causeway 
for this purpose.  That MOA (enclosed) is set to expire on February 7, 2021.  We have not 
needed to use the site during the 10-year period, but we hope the City will consider entering into 
a new MOA in case the need arises in the future.   

 
If an event occurs, we would request temporary access to the causeway for approximately 

three days.  Work would likely transpire as follows: 
 
Day 1 

 A whale carcass is detected floating offshore, 
 DNR notifies the City Manager (or her designee) and other interested parties,  
 A tow vessel is enlisted to tow the carcass back to shore, 
 Heavy equipment is delivered to the site, 

 
1 The timing of right whale mortalities cannot be predicted.  Two carcasses have been found offshore of Brunswick 
since 2004.  Both carcasses were towed to Florida for examination and disposal. 



 
 
Commission of the City of Brunswick, Georgia 
December 1, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

 The carcass is hauled ashore and secured for the night. 
 
Day 2 

 Scientific crew2 and equipment operators arrive at the site, 
 The carcass is dissected, samples are collected for research and remains are buried nearby 

at Andrews Island. 
 
Day 3 

 The site is cleaned, and heavy equipment is removed. 
 

DNR WRD would ensure that the site is restored to its previous state at the conclusion of 
any event.  All remains would be removed and the site would be cleaned thoroughly.  Cleaning 
may include a combination of grading, removing soiled sand, replacing with clean sand and/or 
washing the site with river water.  DNR receives federal grant funding for whale conservation 
activities and would pay for all expenses.  In-kind support from the City (e.g. heavy equipment, 
securing the site) is certainly welcome, but is not required.  I have briefed Ms. McDuffie, the 
City Manager, and Mr. Torras, the adjacent property owner, about this proposal.  We have 
coordinated with the Georgia Department of Transportation, which owns Andrews Island.  If this 
proposal meets with your approval, DNR WRD would welcome signing the attached draft MOA, 
which has been reviewed by the City and DNR attorneys.   

 
We appreciate you considering this proposal.  Please contact me at 912-269-7587 or 

clay.george@dnr.ga.gov if you have any questions. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Clay George 
Senior Wildlife Biologist 

 
 
Enclosures: (1)  Site map 
  (2)  2011 MOA 
  (3)  Draft proposed MOA 
 
Copies: Regina McDuffie, Brunswick City Manager 
  Michael Torras, Brunswick Landing Marina 
  Jason Lee, DNR Wildlife Conservation Section, Coastal Program Manager 
  

 
2 The scientific crew would consist of approximately 20 staff and volunteers from DNR, other governmental 
agencies and non-governmental organizations.   



ATTACHMENT 1:  SITE MAP 

 

 



ATTACHMENT 2:  2011 MOA 

 

 
 

 



ATTACHMENT 2:  2011 MOA 

 

 



ATTACHMENT 3:  DRAFT PROPOSED MOA 

 

 
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Between the Georgia Department of Natural Resources and  
The City of Brunswick, Georgia 

 
This agreement is between the Georgia Department of Natural Resources (hereinafter the 

“DNR”) and the City of Brunswick, Georgia (hereafter the “City”). It sets forth the terms and 

conditions under which the DNR may have temporary access to the Andrews Island Causeway in 

the event that a dead whale must be towed to shore, examined, dissected and buried. 

Recitals 

1. The North Atlantic right whale, the Official State Marine Mammal of Georgia, is an 

endangered whale species that inhabits waters along the Georgia coast between 

November and April each year. 

2. The DNR is tasked with monitoring right whales, documenting causes of whale mortality 

and protecting whale habitat. 

3. On rare occasions right whale carcasses are found floating dead offshore. 

4. The DNR seeks to tow right whale carcasses to shore in order to:  

a. Prevent carcasses from washing ashore unexpectedly on public beaches,  

b. Eliminate potential hazards to marine navigation,  

c. Determine cause of whale mortality, and  

d. Dispose of carcasses appropriately. 

5. The Andrews Island Causeway along the East River in Brunswick (hereafter Causeway) 

is the only site in Glynn County, Georgia that DNR has identified with the requisite 

physical features necessary to haul a large whale carcass ashore. 

6. As the owner of the Causeway, the City is willing to grant the DNR occasional and 



ATTACHMENT 3:  DRAFT PROPOSED MOA 

 

temporary access to the Causeway to examine and dissect whale carcasses. 

7. This cooperation will benefit DNR's efforts to conserve endangered right whales and will 

reduce the likelihood that a whale carcass may wash ashore unexpectedly onto a public 

beach. 

Agreement 

1. The DNR agrees to do the following: 

a. Designate a biologist that will serve as the point of contact for all work undertaken in 

accordance with this agreement, 

b. Notify the City immediately in the event that a whale carcass is located and prior to 

towing the carcass to shore, 

c. Examine, dissect and bury whale carcasses within 3 days, safety and weather 

conditions permitting, and 

d. Ensure that the site is cleaned and returned to its previous condition immediately after 

use. 

2. The City agrees to do the following: 

a. Designate one or more points of contact that the DNR may notify if a whale carcass 

will be towed to the Causeway, 

b. Secure the Causeway during an event if necessary, to protect the public and property, 

and 

c. Notify the DNR in advance if the Causeway is to be altered or otherwise made 

unavailable for the purpose herein. 

3. The Parties agree to the following mutual obligations and terms: 

a. The DNR and its cooperators (e.g., National Marine Fisheries Service) will be 



ATTACHMENT 3:  DRAFT PROPOSED MOA 

 

responsible for all expenses necessary to tow, examine, dissect and bury whale 

carcasses, and to clean and restore the Causeway to its previous condition. 

b. The City will notify the DNR if in-kind support (e.g., equipment, staff, law 

enforcement) is available. In-kind support from the City is subject to the availability 

of funds and nothing in the Agreement will be considered as obligating the City to 

expend any funds. 

c. The City may invoice the DNR for expenses incurred while assisting with whale 

mortality events, in an amount not to exceed $4,999 per calendar year. 

d. The Parties may mutually amend this Agreement as needed. Any Amendment must 

be produced in writing and signed by the Parties before it is effective. 

e. This agreement shall be effective on the date last signed and shall end at midnight 10 

years after the date last signed, unless sooner terminated as provided herein. Upon 60 

days advance notice, either Party may terminate this Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed the Agreement and it will be 

effective on the date last signed.  It will continue until modified or revoked by the agreement of 

the Parties, or by either Party in accordance with the terms set forth herein. 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA  GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF 
NATURAL RESOURCES 

 

 

By:        By:       

Title: Mayor, City of Brunswick   Title: Authorized Representative 

 



Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT: Resolution to accept Land & Water Conservation Fund Grant for Orange Park 

Improvements and to authorize the Mayor to execute the grant contract. 

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:   _December 1, 2021 Consider for Approval_ 

PURPOSE: The City Commission is asked to approve a resolution to accept funding from the 

Land and Water Conservation Fund for improvements to Orange Park and to authorize the 

Mayor to execute the grant contract.  

HISTORY:  The city has a number of public parks, including Orange Park, Palmetto, etc. that 

have historically provided outdoor recreational opportunities and space for its citizens. Over the 

years, some parks have fallen into disrepair and park amenities have deteriorated. The City has 

planned improvements for many of the park areas and included funds in the most recent 

SPLOST referendum to support these improvements.  

FACTS AND ISSUES:  In 2020, the City Commission requested that alternative locations for 

the splashpad that was planned for Mary Ross Park be considered. Orange Park was selected as a 

location that would provide adequate space for the splashpad and bathroom/equipment building 

that is required. Orange Park was recommended based on its location and proximity to 

surrounding neighborhoods that are within walking distance. The proposed improvements 

include the installation of the splashpad and the accompanying restroom/equipment building, 

installation of a new playground area, resurfacing and repairs to the existing basketball court, 

construction of two picnic sheds and improvements to paving, lighting, signage and parking 

(including handicap parking). 

BUDGET INFORMATION: The estimated cost for the proposed improvements is $370,300. 

The grant provides for $185,150 or 50% of the estimated cost. The local match of $185,150 will 

be provided from SPLOST funds budgeted for this purpose. There are also in-kind and cash 

donations from a variety of donors. See the attached cost summary for additional detail.  

OPTIONS: 1. Approve the Resolution to accept the Land & Water Conservation Fund 

grant funds and contract; 

 2. Do not approve the Resolution to accept the Land & Water Conservation Fund grant 

funds and contract;  

3. Take no action at this time. 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: Approve the Resolution accepting the 

Land & Water Conservation Fund grant funds and authorize the Mayor to execute the grant 

contract. 

DEPARTMENT:  Public Works / Engineering  



Page | 2 
 

Prepared by:  Mathew Hill, DDA   

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

This will be a tremendous upgrade and addition to outdoor recreation for the area.   

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.   

________________________________    ________________________ 

City Manager                                                                                      Date                     

 

 

  

11/22/21



Page | 3 
 

Orange Park Project Improvement Budget   

 Proposed Funding       

 City Funding               185,150.00     

 LWCF Grant               185,150.00     

 TOTAL FUNDING               370,300.00     
 Estimated Improvement Costs  

  
 

 Splashpad Installation                103,000.00     

 Bathroom / Equipment Bldg               145,000.00     

 Playground Installation                 60,000.00     

 Picnic Sheds                    9,000.00     

 Basketball Court Improvements                25,000.00     

 ADA Parking & Walkway Improvements                25,000.00     

 Lighting & Signage                     3,300.00     

 Total Estimated Costs               370,300.00     

 Completion of projects by others     

 Ports Authority                      5,000.00  Basketball Court improvements 

 Turnipseed Engineering                     5,000.00  Picnic Sheds   

 Lang Building Supply                     6,000.00  Picnic Sheds   

 Brunswick Glynn Joint Water & Sewer Authority                    5,000.00  Restroom/Equipment Building 

 Golden Isles Development Authority                    4,000.00  Lighting & Signage 

 Keep Golden Isles Beautiful                     2,700.00  Misc. completion items 

  TOTAL                  27,700.00     
         



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-18 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF GLYNN 

 

 WHEREAS, at the regular meeting of the City of Brunswick Georgia held on the 

1st day of December, 2021 a motion was made and duly seconded that the City of 

Brunswick agrees to the terms of the contract for a state grant between the Georgia 

Department of Natural Resources and the City of Brunswick for a grant of financial 

assistance to make renovations and new development within the park known as Orange 

Park located in the city of Brunswick, Glynn County, Georgia to include: 

Splash pad; Walkway; Restrooms; Playground renovation; Basketball court 

renovation; picnic shelter; ADA parking; and Lighting and signage, 

Authorize Mayor Cornell Harvey to execute said contract on behalf of the City of 

Brunswick, and accept the grant provided for in said contract in the amount of $185,150. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City of Brunswick of Glynn 

County, Georgia that the terms and conditions of the contract between the Georgia 

Department of Natural Resources and the City of Brunswick are hereby agreed to, that 

the Mayor is authorized and empowered to execute said contract and any subsequent 

amendments thereto on behalf of the City of Brunswick, and the grant provided for in 

said contract in the amount of $185,150 is hereby accepted to be used under the terms 

and conditions of said contract, and that sufficient funds have been designated to assure 

the acquisition and/or development, operation and maintenance of the facilities and/or 

delivery of services as identified in said contract. 

 

 Read and unanimously adopted in the regular meeting of the City of Brunswick 

held on the 1st day of December, 2021. 

 

ATTEST 

 

____________________________   CITY OF BRUNSWICK 

Clerk of Grant Recipient    GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

       BY:_________________________ 

       Cornell L. Harvey, 

(Seal)       Mayor 

 

Certification 

 I do hereby certify that the above is a true and correct copy of the Resolution duly 

adopted by the Commission on the date so stated in the Resolution. 

 

 I further certify that I am the Clerk of the Commission and that said resolution has 

been entered in the official records of said Commission and remains in full force and 

effect the 1st day of December, 2021. 

 

       _____________________________ 

       Clerk Signature 

Federal Employers Identification # 58-600525 



 

 

SUBJECT: Enterprise Zone Incentive for 201 Gloucester Street 

COMMISSION AGENDA:   December 1, 2021 Consent Agenda  

PURPOSE: Consider approval of Enterprise Zone Incentives in the CBD Enterprise Zone for 201 

Gloucester Street. 

HISTORY: The Commission approved Enterprise Zones in the City of Brunswick on November 19, 

2014. Enterprise Zones were established under the “Enterprise Zone Employment Act of 1997” for the 

State of Georgia. This legislation allowed municipalities to name certain areas as “Enterprise Zones” and 

permit incentives for economic development in those zones. Enterprise Zones help create the proper 

economic and social environment to induce the investment of private resources in productive business 

enterprises and service enterprises. 

FACTS AND ISSUES:  Bay & Gloucester LLC has submitted an Enterprise Zone application for the 

building rehabilitation project located at 201 Gloucester Street (The Leotis Building / Port City Lofts). 

This location is in the CBD Enterprise Zone. The developers are requesting the following incentives for 

these new businesses & rehabilitation: 

  1. Abate Building Permit Fees (including plan review). 

  2. Abate Business License Administration Fees for the first year. 

  3. Abate Sign permit fees. 

 4. Abate City Property Taxes 

BUDGET INFORMATION: Fees are waived for the first year of operation. These fees for this applicant 

total approximately $56,867.42. City Property Tax abatement is for up to 10 years at the discretion of the 

City Commission. Property Tax abatement is estimated to be $16,544.90 annually.  

OPTIONS: 1. Approve the Incentives as presented. 2. Approve the recommended list of incentives. 3. Do 

not recommend the incentives. 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: The Enterprise Zone application has been 

reviewed by the Planning, Development & Codes, Engineering and Finance departments. All departments 

recommend approval of the incentives. The Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors 

reviewed the application at their October meeting and recommended the incentives as applied for. The 

City Manager raised questions at the November 3 meeting and the commission deferred the item to 

December 1. The City Manager has revised the recommended abatements to be the waived fees and a five 

year city property tax abatement at 100%. The City attorney has said that the tax abatements follow the 

ownership so if a property granted tax abatements is sold, the tax abatements end with the sale. 

DEPARTMENT: 

Prepared by: Mathew Hill, DDA; 

ADMINISTRATION 

Approved by: Regina McDuffie, City Manager; 

Date: 11/22/21



 

 

 

Fee 
Standard 
Amount     

Occupation Taxes  $ 355.00      

Building Permit Fees  $ 55,507.42      

Sign Permit Fees  $ 35.00      

Business License Admin  $ 45.00      

Planning Dept. Fees  $ 100.00      

Fire Dept. Plan Review Fees  $ 750.00      

Other FD Fees  $ 75.00      

Total Fees  $ 56,867.42      

    Value at start  $         660,900.00  

Property tax abatement    New value (est)  $     3,129,000.00  

Values are estimated    New Assd (est)  $     1,251,600.00  

    City tax (est)  $           16,544.90  

      

      

option 1   Year 
Abatement 
% 

 Collected 
Tax  Standard Tax  Savings to developer  

 1 100%  $           -     $  16,544.90   $   16,544.90  

 2 100%  $           -     $  16,544.90   $   16,544.90  

 3 100%  $           -     $  16,544.90   $   16,544.90  

 4 100%  $           -     $  16,544.90   $   16,544.90  

 5 100%  $           -     $  16,544.90   $   16,544.90  

 Total   $           -     $  82,724.50   $    82,724.50  

 

 

 











Harrison Bradford Piazza

10/13/21

Managing Member



















ORDINANCE 10 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO ADD CHAPTER 27, TITLED SHORT-TERM 
RENTAL ORDINANCE; TO PROVIDE FOR A PURPOSE; TO PROVIDE 
FOR DEFINITIONS; TO PROVIDE FOR TAXATION; TO PROVIDE 
STANDARDS OF OPERATIONS; TO PROVIDE FOR AN APPLICATION 
PROCESS; TO PROVIDE FOR PENALTIES; TO PROVIDE FOR DUE 
PROCESS; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; TO REPEAL ALL 
ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES. 

 
 The commission of the City of Brunswick hereby ordains that the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Brunswick be and it is hereby amended as follows: 
 
SECTION ONE: 
 
Sec. 27-1 Short Title. 
 
This Chapter shall be known and may be cited as the "Short-Term Rental Ordinance of 
the City of Brunswick".  
 
Sec. 27-2 Purpose. 
 
It is the purpose of this chapter to protect the public health, safety and general welfare of 
individuals and the community at large; to facilitate and provide reasonable means for 
citizens to mitigate impacts created by occupancy of short-term units; and to implement 
rationally based, reasonably tailored regulations to protect the integrity of the city's 
neighborhoods. 
 
This Chapter is not intended to regulate hotels, motels, inns, hospitals, or non-vacation 
type rental arrangements.  
 
Sec. 27-3 Definitions. 
 
The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this Ordinance, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning. When not inconsistent with the context, words in the plural number 
include the singular number, and words in the singular include the plural number.  
 
(a) Accommodation Excise Tax means the excise tax (also known as the "Lodging 

Tax") imposed and collected by the City pursuant to O.C.G.A §§ 48-13-50 through 
48-13-63 and the City of Brunswick Ordinance Sections 20-26 through 20-36 for 
the furnishing for value to the public of any rooms, lodgings, or accommodations 
in the City.  
 



(b) Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate or Certificate means the document issued 
by the City to the property owner or the Managing Agency or Managing Agent of a 
Short-Term Rental under this Ordinance containing an official Short-Term Rental 
Accommodation Excise Tax number for the purpose of verifying and enforcing 
compliance with the accommodation excise tax requirements of the City of 
Brunswick Code of Ordinances, as well the other provisions of this Ordinance 
pertaining to the operation of a Short-Term Rental for transient occupants.  

 
(c) Advertisement or Advertising means the listing or marketing of any real property 

as a Short-Term Rental through any print, outdoor, digital, broadcast, or other 
advertising medium, such as magazines, brochures, newsletters, banners, signs, 
social media platforms, apps on a smartphone, electronic or online marketplaces 
or booking platforms, marketplace facilitators, websites, internet, computer or 
other electronic devices, television, or radio.  

 
(d) Board of Commissioners or Board means the City of Brunswick Board of 

Commissioners.  
 
(e) Commercial Event means an event or gathering of people, or the marketing or 

advertising thereof, where a fee is charged in exchange for allowing an event or 
gathering on the property.  

 
(f) City means the City of Brunswick, Georgia. 
  
(g) Dwelling Unit or Unit means one or more rooms, designed, occupied or intended 

for occupancy as separate, complete living quarters with permanent cooking, 
sleeping and sanitary facilities provided within the dwelling unit for the exclusive 
use of one or more persons.  

 
(h) Local Point of Contact or Point of Contact means a person located in Glynn County 

who is at least 18 years of age and who, using reasonably prudent business 
practices, is responsible for ensuring that all occupants and/or guests of the Short-
Term Rental comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations pertaining to 
the use and occupancy of the subject Short-Term Rental and for responding to 
questions or concerns from occupants, guests, and the City regarding the 
operation of the Short-Term Rental.  

 
(i) Managing Agency or Managing Agent means a person, firm, agency, or company 

with a valid city occupation tax certificate that manages one or more Short-Term 
Rentals under a management agreement on behalf of the owner of the Short-Term 
Rental property.  

 
(j) Maximum Occupancy Rate means no more than two persons per bedroom, plus 

two additional persons. A bedroom is a room or space within the Short-Term 
Rental furnished with one or more beds and that is customarily used and intended 
primarily for sleeping. Children under 12 years of age shall not be included in 



determining the maximum occupancy of a Short-Term Rental, but in no event shall 
occupancy exceed 15 persons total, including children, unless a variance from 
such total is requested and received from the City allowing a proportional increase 
for Dwelling Units with six or more bedrooms.  

 
(k) Owner or Owners means a person that holds legal title to private property.  
 
(l) Party means one or more persons who, as a single group, rent a Short-Term 

Rental pursuant to a single reservation and payment.  
 
(m) Person means an individual, firm, partnership, corporation, association, company, 

agency, syndicate, estate, trust, business trust, receiver, fiduciary or any 
combination acting as a unit, body politic, or political subdivision whether public, 
private or quasi-public.  

 
(n) Property means a legal lot of record on which any Dwelling Unit(s) is being 

operated or offered as a Short-Term Rental.  
 
(o) Short-Term Rental means an accommodation for transient occupants or guests 

where, in exchange for compensation of any type or amount, a residential Dwelling 
Unit, or a portion thereof, is provided for lodging for a period of time not to exceed 
30 consecutive days.  

 
(p) Any term used in this Ordinance that is also used in the zoning ordinance of the 

City of Brunswick shall have the same meaning as defined in the zoning ordinance, 
unless otherwise specifically defined in this section.  

 
Sec. 27-4 Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate. 
 
(a) No Dwelling Unit, or any portion thereof, shall be used, operated, rented, offered, 

or advertised as a Short-Term Rental within the City of Brunswick, unless the 
Owner of the Dwelling Unit applies for and possesses a valid and current 
Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate issued by the City of Brunswick in 
accordance with this Ordinance.  
 

(b) It shall be unlawful and a violation of this Ordinance for any person or property 
owner to use, operate, rent, offer, or advertise a Short-Term Rental within the city 
limits of the City of Brunswick without a valid and current Accommodation Excise 
Tax Certificate issued by the City of Brunswick under this Ordinance, or to operate 
a Short-Term Rental contrary to the procedures and regulations established in this 
Ordinance, other provisions of this Code, or any applicable state law.  

 
(c) An Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate shall only be issued to a person with an 

ownership interest in the Short-Term Rental or to a Managing Agency or Agent 
that manages the Short-Term Rental or Renters of real property who have 
obtained explicit written permission from the owner of the property.    



 
Sec. 27-5 Short-Term Rental Standards. 
 
Short-Term Rentals, as defined in Section 27-3, shall be subject to the following general 
requirements in addition to the zoning district regulations for the zoning district in which 
the Short-Term Rental is located:  
 
(a) Short-Term Rentals shall meet all applicable building, health, fire, and related 

safety codes at all times. Each Short-Term Rental shall also have:  
 
1. Working smoke and carbon monoxide detectors in every bedroom and on all 

habitable floors;  
 

2. A properly maintained and charged fire extinguisher in each Short-Term Rental 
Dwelling Unit; and  
 

3. A solid waste collection (trash) service that removes waste at least once a 
week. All solid waste (trash) must be contained in secured containers when 
outside of the residence. Trash and refuse shall not be left or stored on the 
exterior of the property unless it is placed in a curbside container. The curbside 
container shall not be placed on the curb awaiting trash service pick up any 
sooner than 24 hours prior to the pickup day and must be removed no later 
than 24 hours after trash service pickup.  
 

(b) No exterior signage shall be permitted except in accordance with the regulations 
for the district in which the Short-Term Rental is located.  
 

(c) Short-Term Rentals shall not be operated outdoors or in a non-habitable structure.  
 
(d) Parking shall be provided in accordance with any existing or future parking 

ordinances of the City or district in which the Short-Term Rental is located.  
 
(e) Only one party of guests shall be permitted per Dwelling Unit.  
 
Sec. 27-6 Parking. 
 
(a) Each Short-Term Rental shall designate the maximum number of cars allowed on-

site and, where applicable, instructions for off-site parking for cars exceeding the 
maximum allowed on-site.  
 

(b) Parking spaces within the grounds of the Short-Term Rental must be clearly 
identified for guests use whether by signage or via instructions left with the guests.  
 

(c) The property owner shall provide guests with parking instructions prior to arrival.  
 



(d) Exceeding the maximum number of vehicles allowed on-site of a Short-Term 
Rental is a violation of this Ordinance.  

 
Sec. 27-7 Operation. 
 
(a) Occupancy of a Short-Term Rental between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. 

shall not exceed the maximum occupancy rate, as defined in Section 27-3. No 
person operating or occupying a Short-Term Rental shall violate or exceed, or 
allow another to exceed, the maximum occupancy rate.  
 

(b) A short-term rental shall not be used for hosting any commercial events.  
 
(c) The Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate holder shall keep on file with the City 

at all times the name, cell phone number, and email address of a valid Local Point 
of Contact who shall use reasonably prudent business practices to ensure that all 
occupants and/or guests of the Short-Term Rental comply with all applicable laws, 
rules and regulations pertaining to the use and occupancy of the Short-Term 
Rental, as well as for responding to questions or concerns from occupants, guests, 
and the City regarding the operation of the Short-Term Rental. The Local Point of 
Contact may, but does not necessarily need to be, the property owner or 
representative of a Managing Agency or Agent.  

 
(d) The Local Point of Contact shall be available 24 hours a day to accept telephone 

calls and respond to complaints regarding the condition, operation, or conduct of 
a Short-Term Rental, including the behavior and conduct of the occupants and/or 
guests thereof. When the Short-Term Rental is rented and occupied, the Local 
Point of Contact must be available to respond to complaints in person at the Short-
Term Rental within a reasonable time period, not to exceed two hours after 
notification of the complaint.  

 
(e) Failure of the Local Point of Contact to respond to calls or complaints in a timely 

and appropriate manner shall be a violation of this Ordinance. However, it is not 
intended that any property owner, Local Point of Contact, and/or Certificate holder 
act as a peace officer or place himself or herself in an at-risk situation.  

 
(f) A valid Short-Term Rental Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate shall be posted 

in a conspicuous location inside the main entrance of the Short-Term Rental on or 
adjacent to the front door. In addition to the Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate, 
a clearly visible and legible notice containing the following information shall be 
conspicuously posted within the Short-Term Rental on or adjacent to the front door 
sign:  

 
1. The name of the Local Point of Contact and an email address and telephone 

number at which the Local Point of Contact may be reached on a 24-hour, 
seven days a week, basis. The notice must be updated within seven days of 



any change of the Local Point of Contact and/or such person's telephone 
number;  
 

2. The name and address of the nearest hospital;  
 

3. The maximum number of overnight occupants (maximum occupancy rate) 
permitted in the Short-Term Rental and a statement notifying the occupants 
that failure to conform to the occupancy requirements of the Short-Term Rental 
is a violation of this Ordinance;  

 
4. The maximum number of vehicles allowed to be parked on the property and a 

statement notifying the occupants that exceeding the maximum number of 
vehicles allowed on-site is a violation of this Ordinance;  

 
5. The City’s noise ordinance regulations and a statement notifying the 

occupant(s) that any failure to comply with the City’s noise ordinance is a 
violation of this Ordinance;  

 
6. State, County and City emergency management website information; and  

 
7. Other relevant community restriction(s), if applicable.  
 

(g) All property specific digital, outdoor, or print advertising for any Short-Term Rental, 
including electronic or digital advertising on Short-Term Rental websites, shall 
include the Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate number, or Certificate sub-
number if applicable, issued by the City for the Short-Term Rental. It is a violation 
of this Ordinance to advertise a Short-Term Rental using an expired 
Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate number or a Certificate number that was 
not assigned to the Short-Term Rental by the City.  
 

(h) Short-term Rentals, and the operation thereof, are subject to Accommodation 
Excise Taxes and are liable for payment thereof as established by state law and 
the City of Brunswick Code of Ordinances. The Accommodation Excise Tax 
Certificate holder shall timely remit all applicable Accommodation Excise Taxes 
owed in connection with the operation of Short-Term Rental(s) as set forth in the 
City of Brunswick Ordinance Sections 20-26 through 20-36. 

 
(i) The Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate holder shall maintain records of all 

Short-Term Rental booking dates, rental income, and taxes collected and remitted 
to the City of Brunswick for three years and shall provide such records to the City 
upon request.  

 
(j) The Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate holder shall abide by any local, state, 

or federal rules during a declared disaster event, including, but not limited to 
evacuation and reentry orders and shall provide guests with the State, County, and 
City emergency management websites and emergency contact phone numbers.  



 
Sec. 27-8 Application for Certificate. 
 
(a) Any property owner or Managing Agency desiring to operate a Short-Term Rental 

must submit an application for an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate to the 
City Planning and Development Department on a form to be provided by the City. 
Upon submission of a properly completed application, an applicant meeting the 
conditions and requirements of this Ordinance for the operation of a Short-Term 
Rental shall qualify for and be issued an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate 
for such Short-Term Rental. At the time of filing an application for an initial 
Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate, an applicant must:  
 
1. Pay and submit to the City a Certificate fee of $150.00 for each Short-Term 

Rental. If the application is filed prior to July 1 of a particular year, the full 
$150.00 fee shall be paid. If the application is filed after July 1, the Certificate 
fee shall be $75.00;  
 

2. Provide the name, address, email, and contact information of the property 
owner;  

 
3. Provide the address and parcel identification number of the property where the 

Short-Term Rental is located;  
 

4. Provide the number of Short-Term Rental Dwelling Units on the property, 
provide the number of bedrooms in each Dwelling Unit Short-Term Rental, and 
affirm understanding that only one party of guests shall be permitted per 
Dwelling Unit;  

 
5. State whether the applicant is the property owner or a Managing Agency or 

Agent operating the Short-Term Rental on behalf of the property owner;  
 

6. Specify whether the Short-Term Rental is or will be managed by a Managing 
Agency or Agent and provide the name, address, email, phone number, and 
occupation tax number of such Managing Agency or Agent;  

 
7. Provide the name, address, email address and cell phone number for a Local 

Point of Contact, as such term is defined in Section 27-3;  
 

8. Provide the number of parking spaces on the grounds of the Short-Term Rental 
and affirm whether those spaces are clearly identified for occupant and guest 
use.  

 
9. Affirm the applicant's responsibility to collect and timely remit accommodation 

excise taxes in accordance with Ordinance Sections 20-26 through 20-36;  
 



10. Affirm that the operation of a Short-Term Rental on the Property is not in 
violation of any other land use restrictions, including covenants, deed 
restrictions, homeowner association rules and regulations, or other such 
restrictions;  

 
11. Affirm understanding that the City strongly recommends that the property 

owner carry property and renter's liability insurance that specifically covers 
Short-Term Rental use;  

 
12. Affirm that the Short-Term Rental has an operable fire extinguisher in every 

Dwelling Unit being used as a Short-Term Rental and working smoke and 
carbon monoxide detectors in every bedroom and on all habitable floors 
thereof;  

 
13. Affirm that the Short-Term Rental has solid waste collection (trash) service that 

removes solid waste at least once a week;  
 

14. Affirm that the Short-Term Rental has no past due accommodation excise 
taxes, Certificate fees, ad valorem taxes, or fines for violations of this 
Ordinance; and 

 
15. Affirm whether the applicant or Short-Term Rental has had an Accommodation 

Excise Tax Certificate suspended or revoked within the previous 12 months.  
 

(b) If the applicant is a Managing Agency or Agent, the Managing Agency or Agent 
must submit documentation evidencing that it is authorized to submit the 
application and otherwise manage and act on behalf of the property owner in 
relation to the operation and use of the Short-Term Rental.  
 

(c) An Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate shall be required for each Dwelling Unit 
being used or operated as a Short-Term Rental. However, should any property 
owner or Managing Agency or Agent own or manage two or more Short-Term 
Rentals, a single Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate may be issued for multiple 
properties under common ownership or professional management that otherwise 
meet the requirements for a Certificate under this Ordinance, provided that the 
requisite payment, information, and confirmations are provided by the applicant for 
each Dwelling Units being used as a Short-Term Rental. In the event that a single 
Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate is issued for multiple Short-Term Rentals 
hereunder, each Dwelling Unit being used as a Short-Term Rental under the 
Certificate shall be assigned separate Certificate sub-numbers.  

 
(d) Any fraudulent or material misrepresentation, omission, or false or untruthful 

statement or information furnished by or made by the applicant in any application 
(or supporting materials) submitted to the City for a Certificate or renewal thereof 
shall be grounds for denial, suspension, or revocation of an Accommodation 
Excise Tax Certificate, or any renewal thereof.  



 
(e) All requirements, acknowledgements, affirmations, and attestations necessary to 

obtain an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate must be continuously maintained 
at all times throughout the duration of the initial Accommodation Excise Tax 
Certificate and any renewal thereof. All material changes in the information or 
supporting documents or materials provided to the City in any application (or 
renewal application), including any change in the Local Point of Contact and/or 
such person's contact information shall be updated and reported in writing to the 
Planning, Development and Code Department within three business days of such 
change. 

  
(f) An Accommodation Excise Certificate is not assignable or transferable. Upon sale 

of a property or when a Managing Agency or Agent changes, there will be a 30-
day grace period to operate as a short term rental so long as an application for an 
Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate is submitted by the new owner or Managing 
Agency or Agent within seven days of the sale or management change.  

 
Sec. 27-9 Certificate Expiration/Renewal. 
 
(a) All accommodation Excise Tax Certificates, and any renewals thereof, shall expire 

on December 31 of each year. Applications for renewal of a Certificate for the 
following calendar year must be filed on or before the second Monday of December 
of each year in order to allow sufficient time for the Planning, Development and 
Codes Department to review and process the application prior to expiration of the 
Certificate on December 31. However, nothing herein shall be construed as 
precluding the filing of an application for renewal after such date. In such case, the 
Planning and Codes Department shall use reasonable efforts to review the 
application upon receipt, but neither the Planning, Development and Codes 
Department nor the City shall be under any obligation to process the renewal 
application or issue any renewal Certificate prior to December 31. If a Certificate 
is not renewed before it expires on December 31, a renewal application shall be 
treated as an initial application, and the applicant shall be required to comply with 
all rules and regulations for the granting of an initial Certificate to the same extent 
as if no previous Certificate had been held.  
 

(b) To renew an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate for the ensuing calendar year, 
Certificate holders must submit and file a renewal application with the Planning, 
Development and Codes Department on a form to be provided by the City. In order 
to qualify for and be issued a renewed Certificate, the applicant, at the time of filing, 
must:  

 
1. Pay and submit to the City an annual renewal fee of $100.00 for each 

Short-Term Rental;  
 



2. Affirm and update, as needed, all information, documentation, and 
affirmations, submitted to the City in the application for the initial 
Certificate set forth in Section 27-8 above;  

 
3. Affirm that all Accommodation Excise Taxes for each Short-Term Rental 

under the Certificate being renewed have been collected and timely 
remitted to the City of Brunswick; and  

 
4. Affirm that the renewal application is not for a Short-Term Rental that 

has had its Certificate revoked within the last 12 months, except as 
permitted under 27-13(d);  

 
(c) A renewed Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate shall be valid for one calendar 

year immediately following its issuance, beginning on January 1 and ending on 
December 31 of each year.  
 

(d) Fees paid for an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate, or any renewal thereof, 
are not refundable once a Certificate is issued.  

 
Sec. 27-10 Application Review/Denials. 
 
The Planning, Development and Codes Director or his/her designee may deny an 
application for an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate, or any renewal thereof, if:  
 
(a) The application is for a property that has had its Certificate revoked within the 

preceding 12 months, except as permitted under 27-13(d);  
 

(b) The person applying lacks authority to represent the property owner for which the 
application is made;  

 
(c) The applicant does not qualify for a Certificate or the application is filed by a person 

as a subterfuge for another person;  
 
(d) The application is incomplete, fails to meet the application requirements of this 

Ordinance, or does not contain the requisite documents, information, or 
affirmations under this Ordinance;  
 

(e) A Short-Term Rental is not permitted on the property for which a Certificate is 
sought, or if the Dwelling Unit or property being used as a Short-Term Rental is in 
violation of any applicable zoning, subdivision, or building codes;  

 
(f) Information or materials submitted by the applicant to the City in connection with 

the application contain any fraudulent or material misrepresentation, omission, or 
false or untruthful statement or information; or  

 
(g) The applicant fails to pay any application fee required by this Ordinance. 



 
(h) The applicant is delinquent in paying ad valorem property taxes on any property 

intended to be offered for rent under the provisions of this Ordinance.  
 

All decisions denying an application for an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate, or any 
renewal thereof, shall be in writing and served upon the applicant by email or certified 
mail, or both, to the email address or physical address provided by the Applicant, and 
shall specify the reasons for the denial. Decisions denying an application hereunder shall 
be appealable to the Board of Commissioners in accordance with Section 27-13 of this 
Ordinance.  
 
Sec. 27-11 Violations and Penalties. 
 
(a) Whenever in this Ordinance any act is prohibited (or not allowed) or is made or 

declared to be unlawful or an offense, or whenever herein the doing of an act is 
required or the failure to do any act is declared to be unlawful or an offense, the 
violation of such provision shall be an ordinance violation punishable as follows:  
 
1. Upon conviction of the first offense under this Ordinance within a consecutive 

12-month period, the owner(s) of the property and/or the Certificate holder shall 
be punished by a fine of $250.00;  

 
2. Upon conviction of the second offense under this Ordinance within a 

consecutive 12-month period, the owner(s) of the property and/or the 
Certificate holder shall be punished by a fine of $500.00;  
 

3. Upon conviction of the third and any subsequent offense under this Ordinance 
within a consecutive 12-month period, the owner(s) of the property and/or the 
Certificate holder shall be punished by a fine of $1,000.00; and  

 
4. Enforcement actions may also be brought against the occupants and/or guests 

of a Short-Term Rental for violations of this Ordinance and/or such other 
ordinances of the City as may be applicable to the conduct of the occupants or 
guests, notwithstanding that this Ordinance may also make the property owner 
and/or the Certificate holder responsible for the conduct constituting the 
violation. Violations of the provisions of this Ordinance by occupants and/or 
guests of the Short-Term Rental shall be an ordinance violation punishable by 
a fine not to exceed $1,000.00;  
 

(b) Each day that a Short-Term Rental is marketed, advertised, or rented for overnight 
accommodation without the necessary Short-Term Rental Certificate required 
under this Ordinance shall constitute a separate violation. Any person marketing, 
advertising, and/or operating a Short-Term Rental without a valid Short-Term 
Rental Certificate in violation of this Ordinance may be prosecuted and, upon 
conviction, punished by a fine not to exceed $1,000.00;  
 



(c) Nonpayment of any taxes due from the operation of the Short-Term Rental may 
subject the property owner and/or the Certificate holder to revocation of a 
Certificate and/or any additional penalties, enforcement, or consequences to the 
extent provided for by state law and City ordinances, including, but not limited to 
those set forth in Ordinance Sections 20-26 through 20-36. 

 
(d) Should the City of Brunswick Police Department respond to any property being 

operated as a Short-Term Rental, the police should forward any report to the 
Planning, Development and Codes Department.  

 
(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the imposition of a fine, 

punishment, or other penalty under the provisions of this section shall not prevent 
the suspension or revocation of any Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate upon 
violation of this Ordinance.  

 
(f) Violations of this Ordinance may also subject the violator to any and all other 

remedies, legal or equitable, available to the City of Brunswick to the extent 
provided for by law, including injunctive relief.  

 
(g) No provision of the Chapter is intended, nor shall it be construed, as giving the City 

or its representatives the right to enter into any Dwelling Unit for the purpose of 
searching, inspecting, or examining the premises to determine compliance with the 
provisions of this Ordinance without a court order or search warrant issued by a 
court of competent jurisdiction authorizing such search; provided, however, this 
shall not limit the authority of a law enforcement body to secure a search warrant 
in connection with criminal activity at a Dwelling Unit unrelated to compliance with 
this Ordinance or the authority of the City to conduct otherwise lawful inspections 
of a Dwelling Unit unrelated to compliance with this Ordinance.  

 
Sec. 27-12 Certificate Suspensions and Revocations. 
 
(a) In addition to any other penalty, punishment, or remedy provided for under this 

Ordinance, a Certificate may be suspended or revoked by the City Manager (or 
designee) as provided for herein. The City Manager, or his or her designee, may, 
upon investigation, suspend or revoke an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate 
associated with a Short-Term Rental:  
 
1. If the property or Short-Term Rental corresponding to that Certificate has been 

the subject of three or more violations of this Ordinance or the City's noise 
ordinance which have resulted in convictions of either the property owner, 
Certificate holder, Local Point of Contact, or the occupants/guests (or any 
combination thereof) in the immediately preceding twelve-month period;  
 

2. If the Short-Term Rental or property upon which it is located is being operated 
in a disorderly manner so as to constitute a public nuisance after: (i) the 
Certificate holder and property owner (if different) have been advised in writing 



by the City of the unsatisfactory manner in which the Short-Term Rental is 
being operated; and (ii) after the Certificate holder and property owner (if 
different) have been given a reasonable opportunity to cure said deficiencies;  

 
3. Upon learning that an applicant furnished or made any fraudulent or material 

misrepresentation, omission, or false or untruthful statement or information in 
the application (or supporting materials) submitted to the City for a Certificate 
or renewal thereof;  

 
4. If the Certificate holder or property owner violates or fails to meet or comply 

with any provision or requirement of this Ordinance, or fails to timely pay or 
remit any Certificate fees imposed under the provisions of this Ordinance or 
any accommodation excise taxes due to the City pursuant to Sections 20-26 
through 20-36; provided, however, prior to any such suspension or revocation, 
the Certificate holder and property owner shall be advised in writing by the City 
of such violation or non-compliance and the fees or taxes believed to be past 
due, and the Certificate holder and property owner shall be provided 14 
calendar days to correct and cure such violation or non-compliance, or pay any 
such past due fee or excise tax; or  

 
5. If a Local Point of Contact fails to respond to calls or complaints regarding the 

condition, operation, or conduct of a Short-Term Rental, or the behavior or 
conduct of the occupants and/or guests thereof, in a timely and appropriate 
manner on three or more separate occasions within the immediately preceding 
12 months, provided that the City provides the Certificate holder and property 
owner (if different) with notice of each such failure and a 14-day opportunity to 
respond to the notice in writing. It is not intended that an owner, Managing 
Agency, or Local Point of Contact act as a peace officer or place himself or 
herself in an at-risk situation.  
 

(b) If, upon investigation, the City Manager (or designee) determines that sufficient 
grounds exist to suspend or revoke a Certificate in accordance with this Section, 
the City Manager (or designee) shall issue written notice of the suspension or 
revocation to the Certificate holder and property owner, if different. The Notice shall 
specify the length of the suspension, not to exceed 12 months. The written notice 
of suspension or revocation may be served upon the Certificate holder and 
property owner by email or certified mail, or both, to the email address or physical 
address provided by the Certificate holder in the application, and shall specify the 
facts which, in the opinion of the City Manager (or designee) constitute grounds 
for the suspension or revocation of the Certificate. The notice shall also specify 
that the suspension or revocation of the Certificate shall become effective 15 
calendar days from the date of the notice, unless the Certificate holder appeals 
such decision to the Board of Commissioners in writing in accordance with Section 
27-13 of this Ordinance no later than 14 calendar days from the date of the receipt 
of the notice of suspension or revocation.  
 



(c) In the event that a single Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate is issued for 
multiple Short-Term Rentals, the suspension or revocation notice shall specify the 
Certificate sub-number(s) of the property(ies) whose Certificate is being 
suspended or revoked. In such a case, suspension or revocation of a Certificate(s) 
for the identified Short-Term Rental(s) shall not affect the validity of the Certificate 
as it relates to the remaining Short-Term Rentals on that Certificate.  

 
(d) Should an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate for any Short-Term Rental be 

revoked under this Ordinance, then no Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate 
shall be issued for that Property or to that property owner or Certificate holder for 
that particular location for a period of 12 months after the effective date of the 
revocation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a new Certificate may be applied for 
and issued under an application that otherwise meets the application requirements 
of this Ordinance: (1) if the subject property is sold to a new owner as part of an 
arm's length transaction; or (2) the application is submitted by a Managing Agency 
or Agent who will serve as the new Certificate holder, provided that it has not been 
the Managing Agency or Agent or Certificate holder for that particular property 
within the immediately preceding 12 months.  

 
Sec. 27-13 Appeals. 
 
(a) Decisions denying, suspending, or revoking an Accommodation Excise Tax 

Certificate, or any renewal thereof, under this Ordinance may be appealed by the 
Applicant or Certificate holder, as applicable, to the Board of Commissioners.  
 

(b) Upon receipt of any decision or determination to deny, suspend, or revoke any 
Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate, or any renewal thereof, an applicant 
whose application was denied, or a Certificate holder whose Certificate was 
revoked, may appeal such decision to the Board of Commissioners. Any such 
appeal must be in writing and filed with the City Clerk within 14 calendar days of 
the Applicant's or Certificate holder's receipt of the decision being appealed. 
Appeals to the Board of Commissioners must be sent to and received by the City 
Clerk by certified U.S. mail or hand delivery. Appeals not physically received in 
writing by the City Clerk within 14 calendar days of the Applicant's or Certificate 
holder's receipt of the decision being appealed will be deemed untimely and 
disallowed.  

 
(c) The written appeal must state succinctly the grounds upon which it is asserted that 

the decision should be reversed and shall be accompanied by a copy of the 
decision from which the appeal is being made, along with any other documents 
deemed relevant to the appeal. The filing of a timely appeal to the Board of 
Commissioners will delay implementation of the decision being appealed until a 
decision is made on that appeal by the Board of Commissioners. If an appeal is 
not timely received, decisions denying, suspending, or revoking a Certificate shall 
become effective and final on the fifteenth (15th) calendar day following the 
Applicant's or Certificate holder's receipt of such decision.  



 
(d) Upon receipt of a timely appeal under this Ordinance, the City Clerk shall schedule 

a hearing before the Board of Commissioners at a regular or special called meeting 
within 45 days of the receipt of the appeal. The City Clerk shall provide written 
notice to the appealing party of the time, place and date of the scheduled hearing 
by certified U.S. mail.  

 
(e) The Board of Commissioners shall have the duty of conducting hearings 

concerning the denial, revocation, or suspension of a Certificate. The standard of 
proof on all issues in the hearing shall be a preponderance of the evidence and a 
determination will be made on the basis of the evidence presented at the hearing.  

 
(f) At the hearing, after presentation of the case against the Applicant or Certificate 

holder, the appealing party will have an opportunity to present his or her case, to 
present evidence and information relevant to the appeal, to rebut the allegations 
made against him or her, and to present whatever defenses he or she has. The 
appealing party shall have the right to be represented by an attorney at his or her 
own expense. 

 
(g) At the conclusion of the hearing, the Board of Commissioners shall affirm, modify, 

or reverse the decision being appealed. Written notice of the Board's decision shall 
be sent to the appealing party by the City Clerk via email or certified U.S. mail, or 
both, and shall set forth the findings and conclusions of the Board. 

 
(h) Decisions of the Board of Commissioners regarding denials, suspensions, and 

revocations shall be binding, subject to the right of appeal to Superior Court as 
provided by O.C.G.A. § 5-4-1, et seq.  

 
27-14 Right to Audit. 
 
The City of Brunswick shall have the right to audit and examine the books, papers, 
records, and financial reports of any Certificate holder pursuant to Code Section 27-4 (i.e. 
the Accommodation Excise Tax/Lodging Tax Ordinance) in order to verify the accuracy 
of any accommodation excise tax return made, or if no return is made by the Certificate 
holder, to ascertain and determine the amount required to be paid. The Accommodation 
Excise Tax Certificate holder shall keep and maintain such records, receipts, invoices, 
and other pertinent papers regarding the operation of a Short-Term Rental as required by 
Code Section 27-4 and shall establish and maintain a reasonable accounting system to 
readily identify and calculate the amount of accommodation excise taxes due for each 
Short-Term Rental.  
 
Sec. 27-15 Exceptions. 
 
(a) Real property that is occupied for a period of less than 30 consecutive days by a 

buyer or seller of real property prior to or after the closing of same shall not be 
considered a Short-Term Rental or require an Accommodation Excise Tax 



Certificate under this Ordinance, provided that the property is not otherwise 
furnished or offered for value to any other person(s) during the same calendar year 
for 30 days or less at one time.  
 

(b) Real property that is occupied by or offered for occupancy to the same person for 
a period greater than 30 consecutive days shall not be considered a Short-Term 
Rental or require an Accommodation Excise Tax Certificate under this Ordinance, 
provided that the property is not otherwise furnished or offered for value to any 
other person(s) during the same calendar year for 30 days or less at one time.  

 
Sec. 27-16 Effective Date. 
 
This Chapter shall become effective on July 1, 2022. Any Accommodation Excise Tax 
Certificate issued under this Ordinance on or before June 30, 2022, shall be valid 
beginning on July 1, 2022.  
 
Sec. 27-17 Severability. 
 
If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this Ordinance is held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no way 
effect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. It is hereby declared as the 
intent of the City of Brunswick that this Ordinance would have been adopted had such 
invalid or unconstitutional portion not been included herein.  
 
SECTION TWO: 
 
 All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 
 
SECTION THREE: 
 
 If any section, clause, sentence, or phrase of this Ordinance is held to be invalid 
or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no 
way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION FOUR: 
 
 This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Commission. 
 

SO ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF BRUNSWICK THIS ______ 
DAY OF _________, 2021. 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor 



 
 
ATTEST: ___________________________________ 
  Naomi Atkinson, City Clerk 


	12.1.21 Agenda Packet
	Encl. 1
	Encl. 2
	Encl. 3
	Encl. 4
	Encl. 5
	Encl. 6
	Encl. 7
	Encl. 8
	Encl. 9
	Encl. 10
	Encl. 11
	Encl. 12



